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Part I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.   Financial Statements.

CRYOLIFE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011   2010  

   (Unaudited)  
Revenues:    
Preservation services   $ 15,674   $ 15,583  
Products    14,429    13,955  
Other    93    179  

Total revenues    30,196    29,717  

Cost of preservation services and products:    
Preservation services    9,196    9,398  
Products    2,496    2,527  

Total cost of preservation services and products    11,692    11,925  

Gross margin    18,504    17,792  

Operating expenses:    
General, administrative, and marketing    14,291    13,817  
Research and development    1,766    1,292  

Total operating expenses    16,057    15,109  

Operating income    2,447    2,683  

Interest expense    30    51  
Interest income    (9)   (4) 
Gain on valuation of derivative    –    (817) 
Other (income) expense, net    (109)   120  

Income before income taxes    2,535    3,333  
Income tax expense    869    1,399  

Net income   $ 1,666   $ 1,934  

Income per common share:    
Basic   $ 0.06   $ 0.07  
Diluted   $ 0.06   $ 0.07  

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:    
Basic    27,385    28,235  
Diluted    27,720    28,539  

See accompanying Notes to Summary Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CRYOLIFE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(IN THOUSANDS)
 

   
March 31,

2011   
December 31,

2010  

ASSETS    (Unaudited)     
Current assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 37,582   $ 35,497  
Restricted securities    5,320    5,309  
Receivables, net    16,262    14,313  
Deferred preservation costs    29,703    31,570  
Inventories    5,980    6,429  
Deferred income taxes    6,502    6,096  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    1,807    2,276  

Total current assets    103,156    101,490  

Property and equipment, net    12,587    13,086  
Investment in equity securities    2,594    2,594  
Patents, net    3,179    3,282  
Trademarks and other intangibles, net    5,550    5,601  
Deferred income taxes    8,684    9,182  
Other long-term assets    2,260    2,203  

Total assets   $ 138,010   $ 137,438  

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:    
Accounts payable   $ 5,137   $ 4,243  
Accrued compensation    2,229    3,357  
Accrued procurement fees    2,937    3,081  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    6,289    6,552  
Deferred income    2,002    2,095  

Total current liabilities    18,594    19,328  

Other long-term liabilities    4,429    4,168  
Total liabilities    23,023    23,496  

Commitments and contingencies    

Shareholders’ equity:    
Preferred stock    –    –  
Common stock (issued shares of 29,985 in 2011 and 29,950 in 2010)    300    300  
Additional paid-in capital    133,136    133,845  
Retained deficit    (6,742)   (8,408) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (16)   (32) 
Treasury stock at cost (shares of 2,053 in 2011 and 2,049 in 2010)    (11,691)   (11,763) 

Total shareholders’ equity    114,987    113,942  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $ 138,010   $ 137,438  

See accompanying Notes to Summary Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CRYOLIFE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(IN THOUSANDS)
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
     2011      2010   

   (Unaudited)  
Net cash from operating activities:    
Net income   $ 1,666   $ 1,934  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:    
Depreciation and amortization    1,017    968  
Deferred income taxes    92    702  
Non-cash compensation    773    721  
Write-down of intangible assets    15    729  
Gain on valuation of derivative    –    (817) 
Other non-cash adjustments to income    183    128  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Receivables    (1,973)   (759) 
Deferred preservation costs and inventories    2,258    1,939  
Prepaid expenses and other assets    412    (1,033) 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities    (577)   (572) 

Net cash flows provided by operating activities    3,866    3,940  

Net cash from investing activities:    
Capital expenditures    (274)   (481) 
Purchases of restricted securities and investments    –    (2,604) 
Other    (21)   (33) 

Net cash flows used in investing activities    (295)   (3,118) 

Net cash from financing activities:    
Proceeds from financing of insurance policies    –    1,481  
Principal payments on capital leases and short-term notes payable    (13)   (36) 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and issuance of common stock    150    99  
Repurchases of common stock    (1,562)   (59) 
Other    (50)   (31) 

Net cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities    (1,475)   1,454  

Increase in cash and cash equivalents    2,096    2,276  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    (11)   2  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    35,497    30,121  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 37,582   $ 32,399  

See accompanying Notes to Summary Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CRYOLIFE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

1.  Basis of Presentation
The accompanying summary consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CryoLife, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“CryoLife,” the “Company,”

“we,” or “us”). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The accompanying Summary Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2010 has been derived from audited financial statements. The accompanying unaudited summary consolidated financial
statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 have been prepared in accordance with (i) accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S. for interim financial information and (ii) the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission. Accordingly, such statements do not include all of the information and disclosures required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S. for a complete presentation of financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (including those of a normal, recurring
nature) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2011 are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2011. These summary consolidated financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in CryoLife’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2010.

2.  Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments include cash equivalents, marketable securities, restricted securities, accounts receivable, and accounts payable.

The Company typically values financial assets and liabilities such as receivables, accounts payable, and debt obligations at their carrying values, which
approximate fair value due to their generally short-term duration.

The Company records certain financial instruments at fair value, including cash equivalents, certain marketable securities, and certain restricted
securities. These financial instruments are discussed in further detail in the notes below. The Company may make an irrevocable election to measure other
financial instruments at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis, although as of March 31, 2011 the Company has not chosen to make any such
elections. Fair value financial instruments are recorded at fair value in accordance with the fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable
inputs used to measure fair values in their broad levels. These levels from highest to lowest priority are as follows:
 
 •  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities;
 

 •  Level 2: Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets,
but corroborated by market data; and

 

 •  Level 3: Unobservable inputs or valuation techniques that are used when little or no market data is available.

The determination of fair value and the assessment of a measurement’s placement within the hierarchy require judgment. Although the Company
believes that the recorded fair value of its financial instruments is appropriate, these fair values may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of
future fair values.

A summary of financial instruments measured at fair value as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 is as follows (in thousands):
 

March 31, 2011   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Total  
Cash equivalents:         

U.S. Treasury money market funds   $ –    $ 1,637    $ –    $ 1,637  
U.S. Treasury debt securities    19,424     –     –     19,424  

Restricted securities:         
Money market funds    –     320     –     320  
U.S. Treasury debt securities    5,000     –     –     5,000  

Total assets   $ 24,424    $ 1,957    $ –    $ 26,381  
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December 31, 2010   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Total  
Cash equivalents:         

U.S. Treasury money market funds   $ –    $ 2,056    $ –    $ 2,056  
U.S. Treasury debt securities    14,099     –     –     14,099  

Restricted securities:         
Money market funds    –     309     –     309  
U.S. Treasury debt securities    5,000     –     –     5,000  

Total assets   $ 19,099    $ 2,365    $ –    $ 21,464  

The Company uses prices quoted from its investment management companies to determine the level 2 valuation of its investments in money market
funds and securities.

3.  Cash Equivalents and Restricted Securities

The following is a summary of cash equivalents and marketable securities (in thousands):
 

March 31, 2011   Cost Basis   

Unrealized
Holding

Gains    

Estimated
Market
Value  

Cash equivalents:       
U.S. Treasury money market funds   $ 1,637    $ –    $ 1,637  
U.S. Treasury debt securities    19,424     –     19,424  

Restricted securities:       
Money market funds    320     –     320  
U.S. Treasury debt securities    5,000     –     5,000  

December 31, 2010             
Cash equivalents:       

U.S. Treasury money market funds   $ 2,056    $ –    $ 2,056  
U.S. Treasury debt securities    14,099     –     14,099  

Restricted securities:       
Money market funds    309     –     309  
U.S. Treasury debt securities    5,000     –     5,000  

As of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 $320,000 and $309,000, respectively, of the Company’s money market funds were designated as short-
term restricted securities due to a contractual commitment to hold the securities as pledged collateral relating to international tax obligations. As of
March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 $5.0 million of the Company’s U.S. Treasury debt securities were designated as restricted securities due to a financial
covenant requirement under the Company’s credit agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation (“GE Capital”) as discussed in Note 9.

There were no gross realized gains or losses on sales of available-for-sale securities for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010. At March 31,
2011 $5.0 million of restricted securities had a maturity date within three months and $320,000 had a maturity date between three months and one year. As of
December 31, 2010 $5.3 million of the Company’s restricted securities had a maturity date within three months.

4.  PerClot Agreements

Overview

On September 28, 2010 CryoLife entered into a worldwide distribution agreement (the “Distribution Agreement”) and a license and manufacturing
agreement (the “License Agreement”) with Starch Medical, Inc. (“SMI”) of San Jose, California for PerClot , a polysaccharide hemostatic agent used in
surgery. PerClot is an absorbable powder hemostat that has CE Mark designation allowing commercial distribution into the European Community and other
markets. It is indicated for use in surgical procedures, including cardiac, vascular, orthopaedic, spinal, neurological, gynecological, ENT, and trauma surgery,
as an adjunct hemostat when control of bleeding from capillary, venous, or arteriolar vessels by pressure, ligature, and other conventional means is either
ineffective or impractical. Under the terms of the agreements, CryoLife received the worldwide rights to commercialize
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PerClot for all approved surgical indications and a license to manufacture the PerClot product, subject to certain exclusions. CryoLife also received an
assignment of the PerClot trademark from SMI as part of the terms of the agreements.

The Distribution Agreement contains certain minimum purchase requirements and has a term of 15 years. CryoLife may begin manufacturing PerClot
from plant starch modified by SMI under the terms of the License Agreement, which is anticipated to occur sometime in late 2011 or in 2012. The License
Agreement extends for an indefinite period. Following the start of manufacturing and U.S. regulatory approval, CryoLife may terminate the Distribution
Agreement. CryoLife will pay royalties to SMI at stated rates on net revenues of products manufactured under the License Agreement. In addition to allowing
CryoLife to manufacture PerClot, the License Agreement grants CryoLife a three-year option to purchase certain remaining related technology from SMI. The
Company’s Distribution Agreement with SMI contains minimum purchase requirements for PerClot through the end of the contract term. Upon U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (“FDA”) approval, the Company may terminate such minimum purchase requirements.

As part of the transaction, CryoLife paid SMI $6.75 million in cash, which includes $1.5 million in cash for prepaid royalties, and approximately
209,000 shares of restricted CryoLife common stock. CryoLife will pay additional contingent amounts of up to $2.75 million to SMI if certain FDA
regulatory and other commercial milestones are achieved.

On March 31, 2011 CryoLife filed an Investigational Device Exemption (“IDE”) with the FDA seeking approval to begin clinical trials for the purpose of
obtaining Premarket Approval to distribute PerClot in the U.S.

Accounting for the Transaction

CryoLife accounted for the agreements discussed above as an asset acquisition. The initial consideration aggregated approximately $8.0 million,
including $6.75 million in cash, restricted common stock valued at approximately $1.0 million, and direct transaction costs. CryoLife recorded a non-current
asset for the $1.5 million in prepaid royalties, a deferred tax asset of $145,000, and allocated the remaining consideration to the individual intangible assets
acquired based on their relative fair values as determined by a valuation study. As a result, CryoLife recorded intangible assets of $327,000 for the PerClot
trademark, $2.6 million for the PerClot distribution and manufacturing rights in certain international countries, and $3.5 million for the PerClot distribution
and manufacturing rights in the U.S. and certain other countries which do not have current regulatory approvals. This $3.5 million is considered in-process
research and development as it is dependent upon regulatory approvals which have not yet been obtained. Therefore, CryoLife expensed the $3.5 million as
in-process research and development upon acquisition. The PerClot trademark acquired by the Company has an indefinite useful life; therefore, that asset will
not be amortized, but will instead be subject to annual impairment testing. The $2.6 million intangible asset will be amortized over its useful life of 15 years.
See additional disclosures in Note 7 below.

CryoLife expects to record future contingent payment amounts of up to $2.75 million initially as research and development expense or, after FDA
approval or issuance of a patent, as acquired intangible assets. As of March 31, 2011 CryoLife had recorded research and development expense of $250,000
for the contractual milestone payment due to SMI upon filing of the IDE. CryoLife anticipates making this required payment during the second quarter of
2011, in accordance with the terms of the contract.

The common stock issued to SMI will be held by CryoLife until March 31, 2012, when the restricted provisions of the stock lapse.

5.  Medafor Matters

Overview

CryoLife began distributing HemoStase  in 2008 for Medafor, Inc. (“Medafor”) under an Exclusive Distribution Agreement (“EDA”). In November 2009
and in 2010 the Company executed stock purchase agreements to purchase a total of approximately 2.4 million shares of common stock in Medafor for $4.9
million. The Company’s carrying value of this investment included the purchase price and adjustments to record certain of the stock purchase agreements’
embedded derivative liabilities at the fair market value on the purchase date, as discussed further below. As Medafor’s common stock is not actively traded
on any public stock exchange, as Medafor is a non-reporting company for which financial information is not readily available, and as the Company does not
exert significant influence over the operations of Medafor, the Company accounted for this investment using the cost method and recorded it as the long-term
asset, investment in equity securities, on the Company’s Summary Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Recent Events

On March 18, 2010 Medafor announced that it was treating the EDA as terminated and ceased shipments of HemoStase to CryoLife. CryoLife thereafter
moved to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, Atlanta Division (the “Court”) to preliminarily enjoin Medafor from proceeding with its
termination. Shortly thereafter, Medafor informed CryoLife that, although Medafor had terminated the EDA, it would continue to act as if the EDA were in
effect for a short period of time. Medafor resumed shipments of HemoStase in late June of 2010. On September 20, 2010 the Court issued an order denying
CryoLife’s request for the preliminary injunction. On September 27, 2010 Medafor sent the Company a letter stating that Medafor was “fully, finally and
immediately terminating” the EDA. CryoLife believes this termination was wrongful. Following this termination, CryoLife sold HemoStase for a six-month
period. This six-month period ended in late March 2011.

CryoLife was Medafor’s largest distributor in 2009 and 2008. CryoLife believes it was Medafor’s largest distributor in 2010. See further discussion of
these recent events in “Legal Action” below.

HemoStase Inventory

Based on Medafor’s final termination of the EDA in late September 2010, the Company performed a review of its HemoStase inventory to determine if
the carrying value of the inventory had been impaired. At the time of the termination, CryoLife expected to continue to sell HemoStase for a six-month
period following the final termination of the EDA. As a result, the Company determined that the carrying value of the HemoStase inventory was impaired and
increased its cost of products by $1.6 million to write down related finished goods inventory in the third quarter of 2010. After the write-down as of
September 30, 2010, the Company believed that the remaining $1.7 million of HemoStase inventory was recoverable over the six-month selling period
following the termination of the EDA. The amount of this write-down reflected management’s estimate based on information available at that time. As of
March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 the Company had zero and $559,000, respectively, in remaining value of HemoStase inventory on its Summary
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company was able to sell more HemoStase than it originally estimated and that had previously been written down; therefore, cost of products in the
first quarter of 2011 was favorably impacted by approximately $330,000.

Investment in Medafor Common Stock

During the quarter ended September 30, 2010 the Company reviewed available information to determine if factors indicated that a decrease in value of
the investment in Medafor common stock had occurred. CryoLife determined that the available information, particularly Medafor’s termination of its largest
distributor, indicated that the Company should evaluate its investment in Medafor common stock for impairment.

CryoLife used a market based approach for the valuation, including comparing Medafor to a variety of comparable publicly traded companies, recent
merger targets, and company groups. CryoLife considered both qualitative and quantitative factors that could effect the valuation of Medafor’s common
stock. Based on its analysis, the Company believed that its investment in Medafor was impaired and that this impairment was other than temporary.
Therefore, in the third quarter of 2010 CryoLife recorded a non-operating expense, other than temporary investment impairment, of $3.6 million to write
down its investment in Medafor common stock. During the three months ended March 31, 2011, the Company reviewed available information and
determined that no factors were present indicating that the Company should evaluate its investment in Medafor common stock for impairment. The carrying
value of the Company’s 2.4 million shares of Medafor common stock after this write-down was $2.6 million or $1.09 per share as of March 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010.

The Company will continue to evaluate the carrying value of this investment if changes to the factors discussed above or additional factors become
known that indicate the Company should evaluate its investment in Medafor common stock for further impairment. If the Company subsequently determines
that the value of its Medafor common stock has been impaired further, or if the Company decides to sell its Medafor common stock for less than the carrying
value, the resulting impairment charge or realized loss on sale of the investment in Medafor could be material.

Medafor Derivative

Per the terms of certain of the stock purchase agreements for the Medafor shares discussed above, in the event that CryoLife acquires more than 50% of
the diluted outstanding stock of Medafor or merges with Medafor within a three-year period from each respective agreement date (a “Triggering Event”),
CryoLife is required to make a future per share payment (the “Purchase Price Make-Whole Payment”) to such sellers. The payment would be equal to the
difference between an amount calculated using the
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average cost of any subsequent shares purchased, as defined in each respective agreement, and the price of the shares purchased pursuant to each applicable
stock purchase agreement. The Company was required to account for these Purchase Price Make-Whole Payment provisions as embedded derivatives
(collectively the “Medafor Derivative”).

CryoLife performed a valuation of the Medafor Derivative using a Black-Scholes model to estimate the future value of the shares on the purchase date.
Management’s assumptions as to the likelihood of a Triggering Event occurring coupled with the valuation of the Purchase Price Make-Whole Payment were
then used to calculate the derivative liability. The fair value of the Medafor Derivative was initially recorded as an increase to the investment in equity
securities and a corresponding derivative liability on the Company’s Summary Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Medafor Derivative was revalued quarterly,
and any change in the value of the derivative subsequent to the purchase date was recorded in the Company’s Summary Consolidated Statement of
Operations.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2010 the Company’s estimate of the likelihood of a Triggering Event decreased significantly, largely due to the
Company withdrawing its offer to purchase Medafor. As of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 the Company believed that the likelihood of a Triggering
Event was remote.

The value of the Medafor Derivative was zero as of both March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010. The change in the value of derivative recorded on the
Summary Consolidated Statements of Operations was zero and a gain of $817,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Legal Action

As previously reported in CryoLife’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, CryoLife filed a lawsuit against Medafor in
2009 in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia (the “Court”). In 2010 Medafor filed counterclaims against CryoLife. Currently pending
with the Court are three separate motions: CryoLife’s motion to dismiss most of Medafor’s counterclaims, CryoLife’s motion for partial summary judgment
based on its contention that Medafor’s termination of the EDA was wrongful, and Medafor’s motion for partial summary judgment based on its contention
that CryoLife currently owes Medafor approximately $1.3 million plus prejudgment interest for product Medafor shipped to CryoLife. Both parties have filed
briefs in support of their own motions and against the other party’s motions. The Court has not set a date for a hearing on any of these motions and will likely
rule on each of these motions without a hearing. The Court may rule at any time in the future.

Written discovery began on October 8, 2010. The parties have exchanged responses to written discovery and some documents. No depositions other than
third-party depositions have been set. The Court has set an eight month discovery period.

6.  Inventories

Inventories are comprised of the following (in thousands):
 

   
March 31,
      2011         

December 31,
      2010       

Raw materials and supplies   $ 4,630    $ 4,301  
Work-in-process    357     349  
Finished goods    993     1,779  

Total inventories   $ 5,980    $ 6,429  

7.  Intangible Assets

The Company’s intangible assets consist of procurement contracts and agreements, trademarks, patents, customer lists, a non-compete agreement, and
PerClot distribution and manufacturing rights acquired from SMI as discussed in Note 4 above.

Indefinite Lived Intangible Assets

Based on its experience with similar agreements, the Company believes that its acquired contracts and procurement agreements have an indefinite useful
life, as the Company expects to continue to renew these contracts for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Company’s indefinite lived intangible assets do
not amortize, but are instead subject to periodic impairment testing.
 

9



As of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 the carrying values of the Company’s indefinite lived intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):
 

   
March 31,
      2011         

December 31,
      2010       

Procurement contracts and agreements   $ 2,013    $ 2,013  
Trademarks    795     790  

Definite Lived Intangible Assets

The Company generally amortizes its definite lived intangible assets over their expected useful lives using the straight-line method. As of March 31,
2011 and December 31, 2010 gross carrying values, accumulated amortization, and approximate amortization periods of the Company’s definite lived
intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):
 

March 31, 2011   

Gross
Carrying

Value    
Accumulated
Amortization    

Amortization
Period  

Patents   $ 5,759    $ 2,580     17 Years  
Distribution and manufacturing rights    2,559     85     15 Years  
Non-compete agreement    381     162     10 Years  
Customer lists    66     17     3 Years  

December 31, 2010             
Patents   $ 5,885    $ 2,603     17 Years  
Distribution and manufacturing rights    2,559     43     15 Years  
Non-compete agreement    381     152     10 Years  
Customer lists    64     11     3 Years  

Amortization Expense

The following is a summary of amortization expense (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

   2011    2010  

Amortization expense   $ 175    $ 131  

As of March 31, 2011 scheduled amortization of intangible assets for the next five years is as follows (in thousands):
 

    
Remainder of

2011    2012    2013    2014    2015    2016  
Amortization expense   $ 524    $ 686    $ 599    $ 503    $ 479    $ 467  

8.  Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and tax return purposes. The Company generates deferred tax assets primarily as a result of write-downs of deferred preservation costs, inventory,
and in-process research and development; accruals for tissue processing and product liability claims; asset impairments; and operating losses.

As of March 31, 2011 the Company maintained a total of $1.8 million in valuation allowances against deferred tax assets, related to state net operating
loss carryforwards, and a net deferred tax asset of $15.2 million. As of December 31, 2010 the Company had a total of $1.8 million in valuation allowances
against deferred tax assets and a net deferred tax asset of $15.3 million. The Company’s tax years 2007 through 2010 generally remain open to examination
by the major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject. However, certain returns prior to 2007 from years in which net operating losses and tax
credits have arisen are also still open for examination by the tax authorities.
 

10



The Company’s effective income tax rate was approximately 34% for the three months ended March 31, 2011, as compared to 42% for the three months
ended March 31, 2010.

9.  Debt

GE Credit Agreement

On March 26, 2008 CryoLife entered into a credit agreement with GE Capital as lender (the “GE Credit Agreement”). The GE Credit Agreement provides
for a revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount not to exceed the initial commitment of $15.0 million (including a letter of credit subfacility). The
initial commitment may be reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to the terms of the GE Credit Agreement. In the second quarter of 2009, as
requested by the German courts, the Company obtained a letter of credit relating to the Company’s patent infringement legal proceeding against Tenaxis, Inc.
in Germany, which reduced the aggregate borrowing capacity to $14.8 million. The letter of credit had a one-year initial term and automatically renews for
additional one-year periods. On March 2, 2011 the Company amended the GE Credit Agreement to extend the term of the credit facility from March 27, 2011
to June 30, 2011.

The GE Credit Agreement places limitations on the amount that the Company may borrow and includes various affirmative and negative covenants,
including financial covenants such as a requirement that CryoLife (i) not exceed a defined leverage ratio, (ii) maintain a minimum adjusted earnings subject
to defined adjustments as of specified dates, and (iii) not make or commit capital expenditures in excess of a defined limitation. Further, beginning April 15,
2008 as required under the terms of the GE Credit Agreement, the Company is maintaining cash and cash equivalents of at least $5.0 million in accounts in
which GE Capital has a first priority perfected lien. These amounts are recorded as restricted securities as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, on the
Company’s Summary Consolidated Balance Sheets, as they are restricted for the term of the GE Credit Agreement. Also, the GE Credit Agreement requires
that after giving effect to a stock repurchase the Company maintain liquidity, as defined within the agreement, of at least $20.0 million. The GE Credit
Agreement includes customary conditions on incurring new indebtedness and prohibits payments of cash dividends on the Company’s common stock. There
is no restriction on the payment of stock dividends. Commitment fees are paid based on the unused portion of the facility. As of March 31, 2011 the
Company was in compliance with the covenants of the GE Credit Agreement.

Amounts borrowed under the GE Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all of the tangible and intangible assets of CryoLife and its subsidiaries
and bear interest at LIBOR, with a minimum rate of 3%, or GE Capital’s base rate, with a minimum rate of 4% each, plus the applicable margin. As of
March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the outstanding balance of the GE Credit Agreement was zero, the aggregate interest rate would have been 6.25%,
and the remaining availability was $14.8 million.

Other

In March 2010 the Company entered into an agreement to finance approximately $1.2 million in insurance premiums at a 2.707% annual interest rate,
which was payable in equal monthly payments over a nine-month period. As of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 the aggregate outstanding balance
under this agreement was zero.

Total interest expense was $30,000 and $51,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, which included interest on debt,
capital leases, and uncertain tax positions.
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10.  Commitments and Contingencies

Liability Claims

At March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 the short-term and long-term portions of the estimated unreported loss liability and any related recoverable
insurance amounts are as follows (in thousands):
 

   
March 31,
      2011         

December 31,
      2010       

Short-term liability   $ 1,346    $ 1,310  
Long-term liability    1,319     1,310  

Total liability    2,665     2,620  

Short-term recoverable    521     500  
Long-term recoverable    556     550  

Total recoverable    1,077     1,050  

Total net unreported loss liability   $ 1,588    $ 1,570  

Further analysis indicated that the total liability as of March 31, 2011 could be estimated to be as high as $4.8 million, after including a reasonable
margin for statistical fluctuations calculated based on actuarial simulation techniques.

Employment Agreement

The Company has an employment agreement with its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) that confers benefits which become payable upon a change in
control or upon certain termination events. As of both March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 the Company has recorded $2.1 million in accrued expenses
and other current liabilities on the Summary Consolidated Balance Sheets representing benefits payable upon the CEO’s voluntary retirement.

11.  Common Stock Repurchase

On June 1, 2010 the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up to $15.0 million of its common stock over the
course of the following two years. The purchase of shares may be made from time to time in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions on
such terms as management deems appropriate and will be dependent upon various factors, including price, regulatory requirements, and other market
conditions. As of March 31, 2011 the Company had purchased approximately 1.3 million shares of its common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $7.3
million. As of December 31, 2010 the Company had purchased approximately 1.0 million shares of its common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $5.8
million. These shares were accounted for as treasury stock, carried at cost, and reflected as a reduction of shareholders’ equity on the Company’s Summary
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

12.  Stock Compensation

Overview

The Company has stock option and stock incentive plans for employees and non-employee Directors that provide for grants of restricted stock awards
(“RSA”s), restricted stock units (“RSU”s), and options to purchase shares of Company common stock at exercise prices generally equal to the fair values of
such stock at the dates of grant. The Company also maintains a shareholder approved Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) for the benefit of its
employees. The ESPP allows eligible employees the right to purchase common stock on a regular basis at the lower of 85% of the market price at the
beginning or end of each offering period.

Equity Grants

The Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors authorized awards of stock from approved stock incentive plans to certain Company
officers totaling 287,000 and 152,000 shares of common stock during the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, which had an
aggregate market value of $1.5 million and $957,000, respectively.
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The Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors authorized grants of stock options from approved stock incentive plans to certain
Company officers and employees totaling 574,000 and 427,000 shares during the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, with exercise
prices equal to the stock prices on the respective grant dates.

Employees purchased common stock totaling 33,000 and 15,000 shares in the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, through the
Company’s ESPP.

Stock Compensation Expense

The Company values its RSAs and RSUs based on the stock price on the date of grant and expenses the related compensation cost using the straight-line
method over the vesting period. The Company uses a Black-Scholes model to value its stock option grants and expenses the related compensation cost using
the straight-line method over the vesting period. The fair value of the Company’s ESPP options is also determined using a Black-Scholes model and is
expensed over the vesting period. The fair value of stock options and ESPP options is determined on the grant date using assumptions for the expected term,
expected volatility, dividend yield, and the risk-free interest rate. The period expense is then determined based on this valuation and, at that time, an
estimated forfeiture rate is used to reduce the expense recorded. The Company’s estimate of pre-vesting forfeitures is primarily based on the recent historical
experience of the Company and is adjusted to reflect actual forfeitures at each vesting date.

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to determine the fair value of options:
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2011    
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2010  

   Stock Options    ESPP Options    Stock Options    ESPP Options  

Expected life of options    4.0 Years     .50 Years     3.75 Years     .25 Years  
Expected stock price volatility    .650     .434     .650     .370  
Risk-free interest rate    1.25%     0.19%     1.29%     0.05%  

The following table summarizes stock compensation expenses (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

   2011    2010  

RSA and RSU expense   $ 341    $ 273  
Stock option expense    484     507  

Total stock compensation expense   $ 825    $ 780  

Included in the total stock compensation expense were expenses related to RSAs, RSUs, and stock options issued in the current year as well as those
issued in prior years that continue to vest during the period, and compensation related to the Company’s ESPP. These amounts were recorded as stock
compensation expense and were subject to the Company’s normal allocation of expenses to inventory and deferred preservation costs. The Company
capitalized $52,000 and $59,000 in the quarters ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, of the stock compensation expense into its deferred
preservation costs and inventory costs.

As of March 31, 2011 the Company had a total of $2.8 million, $2.3 million, and $320,000 in unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested
stock options, RSAs, and RSUs, respectively, before considering the effect of expected forfeitures. As of March 31, 2011 this expense is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years for stock options, 2.0 years for RSAs, and 2.6 years for RSUs.

13.  Comprehensive Income

The following is a summary of comprehensive income (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

   2011    2010  

Net income   $ 1,666    $ 1,934  
Change in cumulative translation adjustment    16     (4) 

Comprehensive income   $ 1,682    $ 1,930  
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The tax effect on the cumulative translation adjustment is zero for each period presented. The accumulated other comprehensive loss of $16,000 and
$32,000 as of March 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively, consisted solely of currency translation adjustments.

14.  Income Per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income per common share (in thousands, except per share data):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
       2011           2010     

Basic income per common share:     
Net income   $ 1,666    $ 1,934  
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding    27,385     28,235  

Basic income per common share   $ 0.06    $ 0.07  

Diluted income per common share:     
Net income   $ 1,666    $ 1,934  
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding    27,385     28,235  

Effect of dilutive stock options    132     155  
Effect of dilutive RSAs and RSUs    203     149  

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding    27,720     28,539  
Diluted income per common share   $ 0.06    $ 0.07  

 
 The Company excluded stock options from the calculation of diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding if the per share value, including the

sum of (i) the exercise price of the options and (ii) the amount of the compensation cost attributed to future services and not yet recognized, was greater
than the average market price of the shares, because the inclusion of these stock options would be antidilutive to income per common share.
Accordingly, stock options to purchase 1.8 million and 1.1 million shares for the quarters ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were excluded
from the calculation of diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding.

15.  Segment Information

The Company has two reportable segments organized according to its services and products: Preservation Services and Medical Devices. The
Preservation Services segment includes external services revenues from the preservation of cardiac and vascular tissues. The Medical Devices segment
includes external revenues from product sales of BioGlue  Surgical Adhesive (“BioGlue”), BioFoam  Surgical Matrix (“BioFoam”), PerClot, and HemoStase,
as well as sales of other medical devices. There are no intersegment revenues.

The primary measure of segment performance, as viewed by the Company’s management, is segment gross margin, or net external revenues less cost of
preservation services and products. The Company does not segregate assets by segment; therefore, asset information is excluded from the segment disclosures
below.
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The following table summarizes revenues, cost of preservation services and products, and gross margins for the Company’s reportable segments (in
thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
       2011           2010     

Revenues:     
Preservation services   $ 15,674    $ 15,583  
Medical devices    14,429     13,955  
Other    93     179  

Total revenues    30,196     29,717  

Cost of preservation services and products:     
Preservation services    9,196     9,398  
Medical devices    2,496     2,527  

Total cost of preservation services and products    11,692     11,925  

Gross margin:     
Preservation services    6,478     6,185  
Medical devices    11,933     11,428  
Other    93     179  

Total gross margin   $ 18,504    $ 17,792  

The following table summarizes net revenues by product (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
       2011           2010     

Preservation services:     
Cardiac tissue   $ 6,534    $ 6,903  
Vascular tissue    9,140     8,680  

Total preservation services    15,674     15,583  

Products:     
BioGlue and BioFoam    11,974     11,912  
PerClot    660     –  
HemoStase    1,795     2,105  
Other medical devices    –     (62) 

Total products    14,429     13,955  
Other    93     179  
Total revenues   $ 30,196    $ 29,717  
 
 For the quarters ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 the “Other” designation includes grant revenue.

16.  Proposed Acquisition of Cardiogenesis

In March 2011 CryoLife and Cardiogenesis Corporation (“Cardiogenesis”) announced that the Boards of Directors of both companies approved a
definitive agreement under which CryoLife will acquire all of the outstanding shares of Cardiogenesis for $0.457 per share, (“Merger Agreement”).
Cardiogenesis is a leading developer of surgical products used in the treatment of patients with refractory angina resulting from diffuse coronary artery
disease. The all-cash transaction values Cardiogenesis at approximately $21.7 million, net of cash acquired and liabilities assumed, and is structured as a
tender offer followed by a merger. CryoLife currently expects the acquisition to close in mid to late May 2011. Under the terms of the definitive agreement,
Cardiogenesis shareholders will receive $0.457 in cash for each share of Cardiogenesis stock they own, without interest, less applicable withholding taxes.
Upon consummation of the tender offer, CryoLife intends to complete a merger in order to acquire all of the shares of Cardiogenesis common stock that
remain outstanding after the completion of the tender offer, at the same per share price. CryoLife will use cash on hand to fund the transaction.
 

15

b

b

b

b



On April 5, 2011 CryoLife announced that it, through its wholly-owned subsidiary CL Falcon, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), had commenced the tender offer. On
April 15, 2011 CryoLife announced that it, through Merger Sub, had amended the tender offer and the Merger Agreement to reduce the number of shares
sought in the tender offer to 49.9% of Cardiogenesis outstanding common stock. The amended tender offer is scheduled to expire at 12:00 midnight, New
York City time, on the evening of May 2, 2011, unless extended. The tender offer is subject to certain conditions described in the tender offer statement that
was filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, including the requirement that there shall have been validly tendered and not withdrawn a
number of Cardiogenesis shares that, together with the shares, if any, owned by CryoLife or any of its subsidiaries, represent at least 49.9% of the outstanding
Cardiogenesis shares. If at least 49.9% of the outstanding shares of Cardiogenesis are tendered in the tender offer and the conditions are met, CryoLife will
purchase 49.9% of Cardiogenesis’ shares in the tender offer on a prorated basis based on the shares tendered. Cardiogenesis will hold a special meeting of
Cardiogenesis shareholders as soon as practical after the completion of the tender offer to vote on the proposed merger. CryoLife intends to acquire all
remaining outstanding Cardiogenesis shares in the merger.

On April 7, 2011 two plaintiffs filed separate purported class actions against Cardiogenesis, its directors, CryoLife, and Merger Sub. The suits were filed
in connection with the Merger Agreement and CryoLife’s tender offer for shares of Cardiogenesis. The plaintiffs’ allegations in the lawsuits are contained in
two separate civil complaints. These complaints allege that the board of directors of Cardiogenesis breached their fiduciary duties to Cardiogenesis by
seeking to sell Cardiogenesis through an allegedly unfair process, for an unfair price, and on unfair terms. The complaints also allege that Cardiogenesis,
CryoLife, and Merger Sub aided and abetted the breach by the directors of Cardiogenesis of those fiduciary duties. The suits seek various equitable reliefs
that could delay or enjoin the tender offer or the merger of Merger Sub and Cardiogenesis, based on allegations regarding the process by which offers or
potential offers were evaluated by Cardiogenesis, and also seek monetary damages, as well as fees and expenses of the plaintiffs’ attorneys and experts.

CryoLife and Merger Sub believe the allegations made against them in the complaints are without merit and intend to defend vigorously the actions.
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Overview

CryoLife, Inc. (“CryoLife,” the “Company,” “we,” or “us”), incorporated January 19, 1984 in Florida, preserves and distributes human tissues and
develops, manufactures, and commercializes medical devices for cardiac and vascular transplant applications. The human tissues distributed by CryoLife
include the CryoValve  SG pulmonary heart valve (“CryoValve SGPV”) and the CryoPatch  SG pulmonary cardiac patch tissue (“CryoPatch SG”), both
processed using CryoLife’s proprietary SynerGraft  technology. CryoLife’s medical devices consist primarily of surgical adhesives, sealants, and hemostats
including BioGlue  Surgical Adhesive (“BioGlue”), BioFoam  Surgical Matrix (“BioFoam”), and PerClot , an absorbable powder hemostat, which the
Company distributes for Starch Medical, Inc. (“SMI”) in the European Community.

During the first quarter of 2011, CryoLife focused on furthering a key component of its strategy of identifying and evaluating acquisition opportunities
of complementary product lines and companies. CryoLife announced in the first quarter of 2011 that it had entered into a definitive agreement to acquire
Cardiogenesis Corporation (“Cardiogenesis”). Cardiogenesis is a leading developer of surgical products used in the treatment of patients with refractory
angina resulting from diffuse coronary artery disease. Cardiogenesis and CryoLife products are both targeted toward cardiovascular surgeons, and this
acquisition represents a significant addition to CryoLife’s cardiac surgery portfolio. This proposed transaction is described in more detail in “Recent Events”
below.

In addition, CryoLife took an important step in the development of PerClot, a product which the Company licensed from SMI in the third quarter of
2010. On March 31, 2011 CryoLife filed an Investigational Device Exemption (“IDE”) with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) requesting
approval to begin clinical trials for the purpose of obtaining Premarket Approval to distribute PerClot in the U.S.

While focusing on these strategic initiatives, CryoLife also improved its core business revenues. For the quarter ended March 31, 2011 CryoLife reported
quarterly revenues of $30.2 million, breaking the $30 million revenue mark for the first time in Company history. In addition, CryoLife generated $3.9
million in cash from operations during the first quarter of 2011, despite costs associated with the pending acquisition of Cardiogenesis and its typically high
operating cash flow needs in the first quarter of each year. However, the Company’s net income and earnings per share were negatively impacted by higher
operating expenses, including spending on research and development activities. See the “Results of Operations” section below for additional analysis of the
first quarter 2011 results.

Recent Events

Proposed Acquisition of Cardiogenesis

In March 2011 CryoLife and Cardiogenesis announced that the Boards of Directors of both companies approved a definitive agreement under which
CryoLife will acquire all of the outstanding shares of Cardiogenesis for $0.457 per share, (“Merger Agreement”). Cardiogenesis is a leading developer of
surgical products used in the treatment of patients with refractory angina resulting from diffuse coronary artery disease. The all-cash transaction values
Cardiogenesis at approximately $21.7 million, net of cash acquired and liabilities assumed, and is structured as a tender offer followed by a merger. CryoLife
currently expects the acquisition to close in mid to late May 2011. Under the terms of the definitive agreement, Cardiogenesis shareholders will receive
$0.457 in cash for each share of Cardiogenesis stock they own, without interest, less applicable withholding taxes. Upon consummation of the tender offer,
CryoLife intends to complete a merger in order to acquire all of the shares of Cardiogenesis common stock that remain outstanding after the completion of
the tender offer, at the same per share price. CryoLife will use cash on hand to fund the transaction.

Cardiogenesis markets its leading holmium: YAG laser system and single use, fiber-optic delivery systems, which are FDA approved for performing a
surgical procedure known as Transmyocardial Revascularization (“TMR”), which treats patients with angina that is not responsive to standard medications.
Patients undergoing TMR treatment with Cardiogenesis products have been shown to have angina improvement, longer event-free survival, reduction in
cardiac related hospitalizations, and increased exercise tolerance. Cardiogenesis has also developed the PHOENIX™ Combination Delivery System
(“PHOENIX System”), which is designed to combine the intramyocardial delivery of biologic materials with TMR. The synergy of injecting biologics, such
as stem cells or growth factors, with TMR may provide greater angina reduction, improve cardiac function, and enhance quality of life in patients with diffuse
coronary artery disease who are not candidates for coronary bypass surgery or percutaneous intervention. The PHOENIX System has received a CE Mark, and
CryoLife intends to begin commercialization efforts in select European markets in the second half of 2011, with a more extensive launch expected in 2012.
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On April 5, 2011 CryoLife announced that it, through its wholly-owned subsidiary CL Falcon, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), had commenced the tender offer. On
April 15, 2011 CryoLife announced that it, through Merger Sub, had amended the tender offer and the Merger Agreement to reduce the number of shares
sought in the tender offer to 49.9% of Cardiogenesis outstanding common stock. The amended tender offer is scheduled to expire at 12:00 midnight, New
York City time, on the evening of May 2, 2011, unless extended. The tender offer is subject to certain conditions described in the tender offer statement that
was filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, including the requirement that there shall have been validly tendered and not withdrawn a
number of Cardiogenesis shares that, together with the shares, if any, owned by CryoLife or any of its subsidiaries, represent at least 49.9% of the outstanding
Cardiogenesis shares. If at least 49.9% of the outstanding shares of Cardiogenesis are tendered in the tender offer and the conditions are met, CryoLife will
purchase 49.9% of Cardiogenesis’ shares in the tender offer on a prorated basis based on the shares tendered. Cardiogenesis will hold a special meeting of
Cardiogenesis shareholders as soon as practical after the completion of the tender offer to vote on the proposed merger. CryoLife intends to acquire all
remaining outstanding Cardiogenesis shares in the merger.

On April 7, 2011 two plaintiffs filed separate purported class actions against Cardiogenesis, its directors, CryoLife, and Merger Sub. The suits were filed
in connection with the Merger Agreement and CryoLife’s tender offer for shares of Cardiogenesis. The plaintiffs’ allegations in the lawsuits are contained in
two separate civil complaints which are further described in Part II, Item 1, “Legal Proceedings” below. These complaints allege that the board of directors of
Cardiogenesis breached their fiduciary duties to Cardiogenesis by seeking to sell Cardiogenesis through an allegedly unfair process, for an unfair price, and
on unfair terms. The complaints also allege that Cardiogenesis, CryoLife, and Merger Sub aided and abetted the breach by the directors of Cardiogenesis of
those fiduciary duties. The suits seek various equitable reliefs that could delay or enjoin the tender offer or the merger of Merger Sub and Cardiogenesis,
based on allegations regarding the process by which offers or potential offers were evaluated by Cardiogenesis, and also seek monetary damages, as well as
fees and expenses of the plaintiffs’ attorneys and experts.

CryoLife and Merger Sub believe the allegations made against them in the complaints are without merit and intend to defend vigorously the actions.

HemoStase

CryoLife previously distributed HemoStase  for Medafor, Inc. (“Medafor”) under an Exclusive Distribution Agreement (“EDA”) in certain jurisdictions.
On September 27, 2010 Medafor sent the Company a letter stating that Medafor was “fully, finally and immediately terminating” the EDA. CryoLife believes
this termination was wrongful. Following the termination of the EDA, CryoLife continued to sell HemoStase for a six-month period. This six-month period
ended in late March 2011, at which time CryoLife ceased sales of HemoStase as anticipated.

Critical Accounting Policies

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is included in Note 1 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” contained in
the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010. Management believes that the consistent application of these policies enables the
Company to provide users of the financial statements with useful and reliable information about the Company’s operating results and financial condition.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., which require the Company to
make estimates and assumptions. The Company did not experience any significant changes during the quarter ended March 31, 2011 in its Critical
Accounting Policies from those contained in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.

New Accounting Pronouncements

There were no new accounting pronouncements relevant to the Company that management anticipates implementing during the year ending
December 31, 2011.
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Results of Operations
(Tables in thousands)

Revenues
 

   

Revenues for the
Three Months Ended

March 31,   

Revenues as a Percentage of
Total Revenues for the
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

      2011       2010    2011    2010  

Preservation services:        
Cardiac tissue   $ 6,534    $ 6,903    22%     23%  
Vascular tissue    9,140     8,680    30%     29%  

Total preservation services    15,674     15,583    52%     52%  
Products:        

BioGlue and BioFoam    11,974     11,912    40%     40%  
PerClot    660     –    2%     –%  
HemoStase    1,795     2,105    6%     7%  
Other medical devices    –     (62)   –%     –%  

Total products    14,429     13,955    48%     47%  
Other    93     179    –%     1%  
Total   $ 30,196    $ 29,717    100%     100%  

Revenues increased 2% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010. A detailed discussion of the
changes in preservation services revenues, product revenues, and other revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2011 is presented below.

Preservation Services

Revenues from preservation services increased 1% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010.
The increase was primarily due to an increase in vascular preservation service revenues, largely offset by a decrease in cardiac preservation service revenues.
See further discussion of cardiac and vascular preservation services revenues below.

Cardiac Preservation Services

Revenues from cardiac preservation services (consisting of revenues from the distribution of heart valves, cardiac patch tissues, and minimally processed
tissues that are distributed to a third-party tissue processor) decreased 5% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2010, primarily due to the impact of a 3% decrease in shipments of heart valves and cardiac patch tissues.

The decrease in revenues was primarily due to a decrease in traditionally processed pulmonary valves, which was partially offset by an increase in
revenues related to the CryoValve SGPV. The Company believes that this decrease was primarily due to increasing pressure from lower cost competitive
products and to continuing cost containment practices at certain hospitals.

Revenues from SynerGraft processed tissues, including the CryoValve SGPV and CryoPatch SG, accounted for 37% of total cardiac preservation services
revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2011, and 30% of total cardiac preservation services revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2010.
Domestic revenues accounted for 89% of total cardiac preservation services revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2011, and 93% of total cardiac
preservation services revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2010.

Vascular Preservation Services

Revenues from vascular preservation services increased 5% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2010, primarily due to a 2% increase in unit shipments of vascular tissues, which increased revenues by 3% and an increase in average service fees,
which increased revenues by 2%.
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The increase in vascular volume for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was primarily due to increases in shipments of saphenous veins, resulting
from the strong demand for these tissues in domestic markets, primarily for use in peripheral vascular reconstruction surgeries to avoid limb amputations.

The increase in average service fees for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was due in part to fee differences due to physical characteristics of
vascular tissues and due to the routine negotiation of pricing contracts with certain customers.

Products

Revenues from products increased 3% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010. These
increases were primarily due to an increase in PerClot revenues, partially offset by a decrease in HemoStase revenues. See further discussions of BioGlue,
BioFoam, PerClot, and HemoStase revenues below.

BioGlue and BioFoam

Revenues from the sale of BioGlue and BioFoam increased 1% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2010. This increase was primarily due to a slight increase in average selling prices.

The increase in average selling prices for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was primarily due to the routine negotiation of pricing contracts with
certain customers.

Sales of BioGlue and BioFoam for the three months ended March 31, 2011 included international sales of BioFoam following receipt of the CE Mark
approval during the third quarter of 2009. BioFoam sales accounted for less than 1% of total BioGlue and BioFoam sales for the three months ended
March 31, 2011 and 2010. Domestic revenues accounted for 68% of total BioGlue and BioFoam revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2011, and
69% of total BioGlue and BioFoam revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2010.

The Company began shipping BioGlue to Japan in late April 2011, as BioGlue was recently approved in Japan for use in the repair of aortic dissections.

PerClot and HemoStase

Revenues from the sale of PerClot and HemoStase increased 17% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2010. This increase was primarily due to a 40% increase in the volume of grams sold, which increased revenues by 34%, partially offset by a
decrease in average selling prices, which decreased revenues by 17%.

The increase in sales volume for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was primarily due to shipments of PerClot in international markets. CryoLife
began commercial distribution of PerClot in international markets in the fourth quarter of 2010.

Management believes that the Company lost additional sales of HemoStase in the first quarter of 2011 due to uncertainty in the market as to whether the
Company had authority to market HemoStase and due to the Company’s cessation of HemoStase sales in late March 2011. Management believes that
HemoStase sales during this period were also adversely impacted by continued sales by Medafor of Medafor’s product into the Company’s exclusive territory
in violation of the EDA.

The decrease in average selling prices for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was primarily due to discounting of HemoStase inventory in an
attempt to sell off the Company’s remaining inventory balances. In late March of 2011 the Company ceased sales of HemoStase as anticipated.

Domestic revenues accounted for 52% of total PerClot and HemoStase revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2011, and 69% of total HemoStase
revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2010.

The Company expects that revenues from the distribution of PerClot will increase in 2011 as the Company transitions its international customers to
PerClot and expands distribution into additional international territories. CryoLife does not expect to recognize any additional HemoStase revenues for the
remainder of 2011. The Company’s discontinuation of sales of HemoStase in late March 2011 will materially and adversely decrease revenues in 2011 as
compared to 2010. The Company will continue to sell PerClot internationally, but the Company is not currently approved to sell PerClot in the U.S. and has
discontinued HemoStase sales. Therefore, the Company will not have any further domestic sales of PerClot or HemoStase for the remainder of 2011. The
Company will not be able to sell PerClot in the U.S. in future years until FDA approval is granted. See also “Cost of Products” below, Part II, Item 1, “Legal
Proceedings,” and Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”
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Other Revenues
Other revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 included revenues related to funding allocated from U.S. Congress Defense

Appropriations Conference Reports in 2005 through 2008, collectively the (“DOD Grants”). As of March 31, 2011 CryoLife had been awarded and had
received a total of $5.4 million for the development of protein hydrogel technology (“PHT”), which the Company is currently developing for use in organ
sealing. At March 31, 2011 CryoLife had $2.0 million of deferred income on the Company’s Summary Consolidated Balance Sheet from the DOD Grants, of
which $1.6 million remains in unspent cash advances recorded as cash and cash equivalents.

Cost of Preservation Services and Products

Cost of Preservation Services
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

       2011           2010     

Cost of preservation services   $ 9,196    $ 9,398  
Cost of preservation services as a percentage of preservation services revenues    59%     60%  

Cost of preservation services decreased 2% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010. The
decrease in cost of preservation services and in cost of preservation services as a percentage of preservation services revenues was primarily due to a slight
decrease in the per unit cost of processing tissues.

Cost of Products
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

       2011           2010     

Cost of products   $ 2,496    $ 2,527  
Cost of products as a percentage of product revenues    17%     18%  

Cost of products decreased 1% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010. The decrease in cost
of products is primarily due to the favorable effect of sales of HemoStase inventory that had previously
been written down, as discussed below, largely offset by an increase in costs related to increased shipments of PerClot. The decrease in cost of products as a
percentage of product revenues was primarily due to the favorable effect of sales of HemoStase inventory that had previously been written down, partially
offset by increasing sales volume of PerClot, which has a lower profit margin than BioGlue, and by discounts on sales of HemoStase that the Company
offered in the first quarter of 2011.

The write-down of HemoStase inventory was based on the Company’s review of its inventory balances after Medafor’s September 27, 2010 termination
of the EDA. Based on this review, the Company determined that the carrying value of the HemoStase inventory was impaired and increased its cost of
products by $1.6 million to write down HemoStase inventory in the third quarter of 2010. As discussed above, cost of products in the first quarter of 2011 was
favorably impacted as the Company was able to sell more HemoStase than it originally estimated. See also “Revenues” above, Part II, Item 1, “Legal
Proceedings,” and Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Operating Expenses

General, Administrative, and Marketing Expenses
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

       2011           2010     

General, administrative, and marketing expenses   $ 14,291    $ 13,817  
General, administrative, and marketing expenses as a percentage of total revenues    47%     46%  

General, administrative, and marketing expenses increased 3% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2010. General, administrative, and marketing expenses were unfavorably impacted in both periods
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by expenses associated with business development activities and legal costs, as discussed in the paragraph below. In addition, the increase in general,
administrative, and marketing expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was primarily due to an increase in marketing expenses, including
personnel costs and spending on travel.

Expenses in the three months ended March 31, 2011 included approximately $1.2 million in business development costs, primarily related to the
Company’s pending acquisition of Cardiogenesis and $307,000 in costs associated with litigation with Medafor. Expenses in the three months ended
March 31, 2010 included $729,000 in previously capitalized legal fees associated with BioGlue patent litigation in Germany, approximately $414,000 in
costs associated with litigation with Medafor, and approximately $382,000 in business development costs, primarily associated with the Company’s proposal
to acquire Medafor.

The Company’s general, administrative, and marketing expenses included $695,000 and $651,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively, related to the grant of stock options, restricted stock awards, and restricted stock units.

The Company expects that transaction and integration expenses associated with its planned acquisition of Cardiogenesis, its other business
development activities, and the expenses associated with lawsuits, including lawsuits with Medafor, will have a material impact on the Company’s general,
administrative, and marketing expenses during 2011.

Research and Development Expenses
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011    2010  

Research and development expenses   $ 1,766    $ 1,292  
Research and development expenses as a percentage of total revenues    6%     4%  

Research and development spending in 2011 was primarily focused on PerClot; the Company’s SynerGraft tissues and products, including: CryoValve
SGPV, CryoValve SG aortic heart valves, CryoPatch SG, and xenograft SynerGraft tissue products; and the Company’s BioGlue family of products,
including: BioGlue and BioFoam. Research and development spending in 2010 was primarily focused on the Company’s SynerGraft tissues and products
and the BioGlue family of products. Research and development spending on PerClot is expected to increase throughout 2011.

Other Income and Expenses

Interest expense was $30,000 and $51,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Interest income was $9,000 and $4,000
for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Interest expense and interest income are primarily related to interest on the Company’s
debt and the Company’s cash and investments, respectively.

During the fourth quarter of 2009 and during 2010, the Company made several purchases of Medafor common stock that contained purchase price make-
whole provisions, which the Company accounted for as embedded derivatives. The decrease in the value of the liability for these embedded derivatives,
largely resulting from a significant decrease in the likelihood of a triggering event occurring, resulted in a non-cash gain for the three months ended
March 31, 2010 of $817,000. CryoLife believes that the likelihood of a triggering event occurring was substantially reduced in the first quarter of 2010 and
was remote at December 31, 2010 and March 31, 2011, and accordingly no derivative liability has been recognized.

Earnings
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011    2010  

Income before income taxes   $ 2,535    $ 3,333  
Income tax expense    869     1,399  
Net income   $ 1,666    $ 1,934  

Diluted income per common share   $ 0.06    $ 0.07  
Diluted common shares outstanding    27,720     28,539  

Income before income taxes decreased for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2010, primarily due
to increases in operating expenses, as discussed above.
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The Company’s effective income tax rate was approximately 34% for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to 42% for the three months
ended March 31, 2010. The decrease in the Company’s effective income tax rate is due to a variety of factors, including an increase in projected full year
income before income taxes over the prior year and changes in tax deductions available to the Company in 2011. Net income and diluted income per
common share for the three months ended March 31, 2011 decreased compared to the corresponding period in 2010 due to the decrease in income before
income taxes as discussed above.

The Company expects that its effective income tax rate will be significantly and negatively impacted beginning in the second quarter of 2011 if the
Company completes its proposed acquisition of Cardiogenesis. This potential income tax effect would be due to the unfavorable tax treatment of certain
acquisition related expenses.

Basic and diluted income per common share could be impacted in future periods unfavorably by the issuance of additional shares of common stock and
favorably by the Company’s repurchase of its common stock. Stock repurchases are impacted by many factors, including stock price, available funds, and
competing demands for such funds, and as a result, may be suspended or discontinued at any time.

Seasonality

The Company believes the demand for its cardiac preservation services is seasonal, with peak demand generally occurring in the third quarter.
Management believes this trend for cardiac preservation services is primarily due to the high number of surgeries scheduled during the summer months for
school-aged patients, who drive the demand for a large percentage of cardiac tissues processed by CryoLife.

The Company believes the demand for its vascular preservation services is seasonal, with lowest demand generally occurring in the fourth quarter.
Management believes this trend for vascular preservation services is primarily due to fewer surgeries being scheduled during the winter holiday months.

The Company believes the demand for BioGlue is seasonal, with a decline in demand generally occurring in the third quarter followed by stronger
demand in the fourth quarter. Management believes that this trend for BioGlue may be due to the summer holiday season in Europe and fewer surgeries being
performed on adult patients in the summer months in the U.S.

The Company is uncertain whether demand for PerClot will be seasonal. As PerClot is in a growth phase generally associated with a recently introduced
product that has not fully penetrated the marketplace, the nature of any seasonal trends in PerClot sales may be obscured.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net Working Capital

At March 31, 2011 net working capital (current assets of $103.2 million less current liabilities of $18.6 million) was $84.6 million, with a current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities) of 6 to 1, compared to net working capital of $82.2 million and a current ratio of 5 to 1 at December 31, 2010.

Overall Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s primary cash requirements for the three months ended March 31, 2011 arose out of general working capital needs, the payment of legal
and professional fees, and repurchases of the Company’s common stock. Legal and professional fees during the three months ended March 31, 2011 included
business development costs, primarily costs for the proposed acquisition of Cardiogenesis, other business development activities, and costs associated with
the Company’s litigation with Medafor. The Company funded its cash requirements primarily through its operating activities, which generated cash during
the period.

CryoLife entered into a credit facility with GE Capital in March 2008, as amended (the “GE Credit Agreement”) which provides for up to $15.0 million
in revolving credit for working capital, acquisitions, and other corporate purposes, of which $14.8 million was available for borrowing as of March 31, 2011.
As of March 31, 2011 the outstanding balance under this agreement was zero. As required under the terms of the GE Credit Agreement, the Company is
maintaining cash and cash equivalents of at least $5.0 million in accounts in which GE Capital has a first priority perfected lien. As a result, these funds will
not be available to meet the Company’s liquidity needs during the term of the GE Credit Agreement, and as such, have been recorded in restricted securities
on the Company’s Summary Consolidated Balance Sheets. Also, the GE Credit Agreement requires that after giving effect to a stock repurchase the Company
maintain liquidity, as defined in the agreement, of at least $20.0 million. During the first quarter of 2011 the Company amended the GE Credit Agreement to
extend the expiration date of the credit facility to June 30, 2011.
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CryoLife is currently reviewing its options regarding whether to enter into a new credit agreement or loan with GE Capital or another lender. CryoLife is also
considering the possibility of expanding its line of credit capacity to provide liquidity for growth, including potential acquisitions; however, there is no
guarantee that a new or extended line of credit can be obtained.

The Company’s cash equivalents include advance funding received under the DOD Grants for the continued development of PHT. As of March 31, 2011
$1.6 million of the cash equivalents recorded on the Company’s Summary Consolidated Balance Sheet was related to the DOD Grants. These funds must be
used for the specified purposes.

The Company believes that its anticipated cash from operations and existing cash and cash equivalents will enable the Company to meet its current
operational liquidity needs for at least the next twelve months. The Company anticipates that it will have a significant cash obligation of approximately
$21.7 million plus estimated transaction costs of approximately $1.0 million in the second quarter of 2011 related to the purchase of the outstanding
Cardiogenesis common stock, if the Company closes on its planned acquisition of Cardiogenesis, as discussed in “Recent Events” above. These costs will be
paid from the Company’s existing cash and cash equivalents. In addition, the Company’s future cash requirements may include cash for integration costs
related to its planned acquisition of Cardiogenesis, to fund clinical trials, including the PerClot and Cardiogenesis clinical trials, to fund other business
development activities, to purchase license agreements, for general working capital needs, to repurchase the Company’s common stock, to fund the Medafor
litigation, and for other corporate purposes. The Company expects that these items will have a significant impact on its cash flows in the remainder of 2011.
The Company may seek additional borrowing capacity to fund additional business development activities or other future cash requirements.

Net Cash from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $3.9 million for both the three months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010. The Company uses the indirect
method to prepare its cash flow statement, and accordingly, the operating cash flows are based on the Company’s net income, which is then adjusted to
remove non-cash items and for changes in operating assets and liabilities from the prior year end. For the three months ended March 31, 2011 these non-cash
items included a favorable $1.0 million in depreciation and amortization expense and $773,000 in non-cash stock based compensation.

The Company’s working capital needs, or changes in operating assets and liabilities, also affected cash from operations. For the three months ended
March 31, 2011 these changes included a favorable $2.3 million due to decreases in deferred preservation costs and inventory balances and a favorable
$412,000 due to the timing difference between making cash payments and the expensing of assets, largely offset by an unfavorable $2.0 million increase in
receivables and an unfavorable $577,000 due to the timing differences between the recording of accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other current
liabilities and the actual payment of cash.

Net Cash from Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $295,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to $3.1 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2010. The current year cash used was primarily due to $274,000 in capital expenditures. The prior year cash used was primarily due to $2.6 million
in purchases of marketable securities and investments, primarily related to the purchase of Medafor common stock.

Net Cash from Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $1.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011 as compared to net cash provided of $1.5 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2010. The current year cash used was primarily due to $1.6 million in purchases of treasury stock, the majority of which
were purchases related to the Company’s stock repurchase plan.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.
 

24



Scheduled Contractual Obligations and Future Payments

Scheduled contractual obligations and the related future payments as of March 31, 2011 are as follows (in thousands):
 

   Total    
Remainder of

2011    2012    2013    2014    2015    Thereafter  
Operating leases   $ 27,921    $ 1,704    $ 2,542    $ 2,475    $ 2,489    $ 2,525    $ 16,186  
Cardiogenesis related

obligations    22,678     22,678     –     –     –     –     –  
Purchase commitments    8,074     1,614     2,583     3,500     377     –     –  
Research obligations    3,176     1,418     476     579     703     –     –  
PerClot contingent payments    2,250     750     –     500     1,000     –     –  
Compensation payments    1,985     –     –     993     992     –     –  

Total contractual obligations   $ 66,084    $ 28,164    $ 5,601    $ 8,047    $ 5,561    $ 2,525    $ 16,186  

The Company’s operating lease obligations result from the lease of land and buildings that comprise the Company’s corporate headquarters and
manufacturing facilities, leases related to additional office and warehouse space, leases on Company vehicles, and leases on a variety of office equipment.

The Company’s Cardiogenesis related obligations represent the amounts expected to be paid for the purchase of Cardiogenesis common stock under the
definitive agreement signed by CryoLife and Cardiogenesis in March 2011, as amended in April 2011, including the related tender offer launched in April
2011, and certain anticipated contractual payments for associated transaction costs. Certain of these costs are dependent upon the closing of the acquisition;
therefore, the Company may ultimately pay less than the amount included in the table above, if the acquisition does not take place. The Company expects to
incur additional transaction and integration costs related to the proposed acquisition of Cardiogenesis for which the Company is not currently contractually
obligated.

The Company’s purchase commitments include minimum purchase requirements for PerClot related to the Company’s transaction with SMI. These
minimum purchases are included through 2013, as that is when the Company expects to receive FDA approval for PerClot. Upon FDA approval the Company
may terminate its minimum purchase requirements, which it expects to do, but if the Company does not terminate this provision, it will have minimum
purchases obligations in 2014 and through the end of the contract term. The Company’s purchase commitments also include obligations from agreements
with suppliers to stock certain custom raw materials needed for the Company’s processing and production and contractual payments for licensing computer
software and telecommunication services.

The Company’s research obligations represent commitments for ongoing studies and payments to support research and development activities, which
will be partially funded by the advances received under the DOD Grants.

The obligation for PerClot contingent payments represents the contingent milestone payments that the Company will pay if certain FDA regulatory
approvals and other commercial milestones are achieved. The schedule excludes one contingent milestone payment of $500,000, as the Company cannot
make a reasonably reliable estimate of timing of this future payment.

The Company’s compensation payment obligations represent estimated payments for post employment benefits for the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO”). The timing of the CEO’s post employment benefits is based on the December 2012 expiration date of the CEO’s employment agreement.
Payment of this benefit may be accelerated by a change in control or by the voluntary retirement of the CEO.

The schedule of contractual obligations above excludes (i) obligations for estimated tissue processing and product liability claims unless they are due as
a result of a pending settlement agreement or other contractual obligation and (ii) any estimated liability for uncertain tax positions and interest and
penalties, currently estimated to be $1.5 million, because the Company can not make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period of related future
payments as no specific assessments have been made for specific litigation or by any taxing authorities.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures for the three months ended March 31, 2011 were $274,000 compared to $481,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2010.
Capital expenditures in the three months ended March 31, 2011 were primarily related to routine purchases of tissue processing, manufacturing, computer,
and office equipment; computer software; and renovations to the Company’s corporate headquarters needed to support the Company’s business.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-Q includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of
the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements give the Company’s current expectations or forecasts of future events. The words “could,” “may,” “might,”
“will,” “would,” “shall,” “should,” “pro forma,” “potential,” “pending,” “intend,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “plan,” “future,” and other
similar expressions generally identify forwarding-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which are made
as of the date of this Form 10-Q. Such forward-looking statements reflect the views of management at the time such statements are made and are subject to a
number of risks, uncertainties, estimates, and assumptions, including, without limitation, in addition to those identified in the text surrounding such
statements, those identified under “Risks and Uncertainties” and elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.

All statements, other than statements of historical facts, included herein that address activities, events, or developments that the Company expects or
anticipates will or may occur in the future, are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding:
 
 •  Expectations regarding when CryoLife will commence manufacturing PerClot;
 

 •  Expectations regarding the timing of future payments to SMI and the accounting treatment of these payments;
 

 •  Expectations regarding the timing and structure of the transaction with Cardiogenesis;
 

 •  The Company’s intentions to begin commercialization efforts with respect to Cardiogenesis products after the merger;
 

 •  Expectations regarding transaction and integration expenses associated with the planned acquisition of Cardiogenesis;
 

 •  Expectations regarding research and development spending on PerClot;
 

 •  Expectations regarding the Company’s effective income tax rate and the tax treatment of the planned acquisition of Cardiogenesis;
 

 •  Anticipated uses of cash in the remainder of 2011 and the resulting impact on cash flows;
 

 •  The Company’s belief that it may seek additional borrowing capacity;
 

 •  Plans and costs related to regulatory approval for the distribution of PerClot in the U.S. and international markets;
 

 •  Plans regarding the distribution of BioGlue in Japan and the timing of BioGlue distribution in Japan;
 

 •  The Company’s expectations regarding the timing of court rulings in its legal proceedings;
 

 •  The Company’s intentions with respect to lawsuits and the expected impact of current litigation;
 

 •  The Company’s estimated future liability for existing tissue processing and product liability lawsuits and for claims incurred but not yet reported;
 

 •  Expectations regarding revenues from PerClot and HemoStase;
 

 •  Expectations regarding minimum purchase requirements related to PerClot;
 

 •  The Company’s beliefs regarding the seasonal nature of the demand for some of its products and services;
 

 •  The adequacy of the Company’s financial resources;
 

 •  The Company’s belief that it will have sufficient cash to meet its operational liquidity needs for at least the next twelve months;
 

 •  The anticipated impact of the proposed acquisition of Cardiogenesis on the Company’s liquidity;
 

 •  Anticipated impact of changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates;
 

 •  The Company’s expectations regarding the renewal of certain contracts;
 

 •  Expectations regarding net operating loss carryforwards;
 

 •  Expectations regarding unreported loss liability and any related recoverable insurance amounts;
 

 •  Expectations regarding the impact of new accounting pronouncements;
 

 •  Issues that may impact the Company’s future financial performance and cash flows; and
 

 •  Other statements regarding future plans and strategies, anticipated events, or trends.
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These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by the Company in light of its experience and its perception of historical trends,
current conditions, and expected future developments as well as other factors it believes are appropriate in the circumstances. However, whether actual results
and developments will conform with the Company’s expectations and predictions is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual
results to differ materially from the Company’s expectations, including, without limitation, in addition to those specified in the text surrounding such
statements, the risk factors set forth below, the risks set forth under Part II, Item 1A of this Form 10-Q, the risk factors set forth under Part I, Item 1A of the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 and other factors, many of which are beyond the control of the Company. Consequently, all of
the forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-Q are qualified by these cautionary statements, and there can be no assurance that the actual results or
developments anticipated by the Company will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to or effects on
the Company or its business or operations. The Company assumes no obligation to update publicly any such forward-looking statements, whether as a result
of new information, future events, or otherwise.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The risks and uncertainties which might impact the forward-looking statements and the Company, its ability to continue as a going concern, and the
trading value of its common stock include the risk factors described under Part II, Item 1A of this Form 10-Q and concerns that:
 
 •  We are significantly dependent on our revenues from BioGlue and are subject to a variety of risks affecting this product;
 

 
•  Our tissues and products allegedly have caused and may in the future cause injury to patients, and we have been and may be exposed to tissue

processing and product liability claims, including one currently outstanding product liability lawsuit, and additional regulatory scrutiny as a
result;

 

 •  Demand for our tissues and products could decrease in the future, which could have a material adverse impact on our business;
 

 •  We are currently involved in significant litigation with Medafor and that litigation cost may have a material adverse impact on our profitability;
 

 •  Our investment in Medafor may have been impaired due to Medafor’s termination of the EDA, which could have a material adverse impact on our
financial condition and profitability;

 

 •  Medafor has filed counterclaims against us with respect to our lawsuit against Medafor, and if Medafor is successful in its claims, our revenues and
profitability may be materially, adversely impacted;

 

 
•  We are subject to stringent domestic and foreign regulation which may impede the approval process of our tissues and products, hinder our

development activities and manufacturing processes, and, in some cases, result in the recall or seizure of previously cleared or approved tissues
and products;

 

 •  Uncertainties related to patents and protection of proprietary technology may adversely impact the value of our intellectual property;
 

 •  Intense competition may impact our ability to operate profitably;
 

 •  We may not be successful in obtaining necessary clinical results and regulatory approvals for services and products in development, and our new
services and products may not achieve market acceptance;

 

 •  If we are not successful in expanding our business activities in international markets, we may be unable to increase our revenues;
 

 •  We are dependent on the availability of sufficient quantities of tissue from human donors;
 

 •  The loss of any of our sole-source suppliers could have a material adverse impact on our revenues, financial condition, profitability, and cash
flows;

 

 •  We may be unsuccessful in our efforts to market and sell PerClot in the U.S. and internationally;
 

 
•  Our short-term liquidity and earnings in 2011 will be impacted by our substantial investment in our distribution and license and manufacturing

agreements with SMI, and we will not fully realize the benefit of our investment in future years unless we are able to obtain FDA approval for
PerClot in the U.S., which will require an additional commitment of funds;

 

 •  Key growth strategies may not generate the anticipated benefits;
 

 •  Investments in new technologies and acquisitions of products or distribution rights may not be successful;
 

 •  We may expand through acquisitions or licenses of, or investments in, other companies or technologies, which may result in additional dilution to
our stockholders and consume resources that may be necessary to sustain our business;

 

 •  We may find it difficult to integrate recent acquisitions of technology and potential future acquisitions of technology or business combinations,
which could disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value, and adversely impact our operating results;

 

 •  We may not realize the anticipated benefits from an acquisition;
 

 •  Regulatory action outside of the U.S. has affected our business in the past and may affect our business in the future;
 

 •  Extensive government regulation may adversely impact our ability to develop and market services and products;
 

 •  Healthcare policy changes, including recent federal legislation to reform the U.S. healthcare system, may have a material adverse impact on us;
 

 •  Consolidation in the healthcare industry could lead to demands for price concessions, limits on the use of our tissues and products, or eliminate
our ability to sell to certain of our significant market segments;

 

 •  The success of many of our tissues and products depends upon strong relationships with physicians;
 

 •  Our CryoValve SGPV post-clearance study may not provide expected results;
 

 •  Our existing insurance policies may not be sufficient to cover our actual claims liability;
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 •  We may not be able to obtain adequate insurance at a reasonable cost, if at all;
 

 •  We are not insured against all potential losses. Natural disasters or other catastrophes could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
profitability;

 

 •  Our credit facility which expires in June of 2011 limits our ability to pursue significant acquisitions;
 

 •  Our ability to borrow under our credit facility which expires in June of 2011 may be limited;
 

 •  We may not be able to enter into a new credit facility after our current credit facility expires in June 2011;
 

 •  Continued fluctuation of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. Dollar could materially adversely impact our business;
 

 •  Rapid technological change could cause our services and products to become obsolete;
 

 •  We are dependent on our key personnel;
 

 •  We may be unsuccessful or delayed in our attempt to acquire Cardiogenesis, which may have a material adverse effect on our operating expenses
and revenues;

 

 •  If our acquisition of Cardiogenesis is successfully completed, we will inherit risks and uncertainties related to Cardiogenesis’ business; and
 

 •  If our acquisition of Cardiogenesis is successfully completed, the subsequent integration of Cardiogenesis’ business into our business may be
slower than expected or unsuccessful, and our revenues and operating expenses may be materially adversely impacted as a result.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company’s interest income and interest expense are sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. In this regard, changes in U.S.
interest rates affect the interest earned on the Company’s cash and cash equivalents of $37.6 million and restricted securities of $5.0 million and interest paid
on the Company’s variable rate line of credit as of March 31, 2011. A 10% adverse change in interest rates as compared to the rates experienced by the
Company in the three months ended March 31, 2011, affecting the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, restricted securities, and line of credit would not
have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, profitability, or cash flows.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company has balances, such as cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accruals that are denominated in foreign currencies. These foreign
currency denominated balances are sensitive to changes in exchange rates. In this regard, changes in exchange rates could cause a change in the U.S. Dollar
equivalent of cash or funds that the Company will receive in payment for assets or that the Company would have to pay to settle liabilities. As a result, the
Company could be required to record these changes as gains or losses on foreign currency translation.

The Company has revenues and expenses that are denominated in foreign currencies. Specifically, a significant portion of the Company’s international
BioGlue revenues are denominated in British Pounds and Euros, and a portion of the Company’s general, administrative, and marketing expenses are
denominated in British Pounds and Euros. These foreign currency transactions are sensitive to changes in exchange rates. In this regard, changes in exchange
rates could cause a change in the U.S. Dollar equivalent of net income from transactions conducted in other currencies. As a result, the Company could
recognize a reduction in revenues or an increase in expenses related to a change in exchange rates.

Changes in exchange rates which occurred during the three months ended March 31, 2011, as well as any future material adverse fluctuations in
exchange rates, could have a material and adverse impact on the Company’s revenues, profitability, and cash flows. An additional 10% adverse change in
exchange rates from the exchange rates in effect on March 31, 2011 affecting the Company’s balances denominated in foreign currencies would not have had
a material impact on the Company’s financial position or cash flows. An additional 10% adverse change in exchange rates from the exchange rates in effect
on March 31, 2011 as compared to the weighted-average exchange rates experienced by the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2011 affecting
the Company’s revenue and expense transactions denominated in foreign currencies, would not have had a material impact on the Company’s financial
position, profitability, or cash flows.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (“Disclosure Controls”) as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These Disclosure Controls are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is
recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

The Company’s management, including the Company’s President and CEO and the Company’s Executive Vice President of Finance, Chief Operating
Officer, and CFO, does not expect that its Disclosure Controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. The design of any system of controls is based
in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated
goals under all potential future conditions. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that
judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdown can occur because of simple error or mistake. The Company’s Disclosure Controls have
been designed to provide reasonable assurance.

Based upon the most recent Disclosure Controls evaluation, conducted by management with the participation of the CEO and CFO, as of March 31,
2011 the CEO and CFO have concluded that the Company’s Disclosure Controls were effective at the reasonable assurance level to satisfy their objectives
and to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in its
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periodic reports is accumulated and communicated to management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
disclosure and is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules
and forms.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2011, there were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that materially affected or
that are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Part II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

Medafor

As previously reported in CryoLife’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, CryoLife filed a lawsuit against Medafor, Inc.
(“Medafor”) in 2009 in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia (the “Court”). In 2010 Medafor filed counterclaims against CryoLife.
Currently pending with the Court are three separate motions: CryoLife’s motion to dismiss most of Medafor’s counterclaims, CryoLife’s motion for partial
summary judgment based on its contention that Medafor’s termination of the EDA was wrongful, and Medafor’s motion for partial summary judgment based
on its contention that CryoLife currently owes Medafor approximately $1.3 million plus prejudgment interest for product Medafor shipped to CryoLife. Both
parties have filed briefs in support of their own motions and against the other party’s motions. The Court has not set a date for a hearing on any of these
motions and will likely rule on each of these motions without a hearing. The Court may rule at any time in the future.

In March 2011 the case was reassigned as an administrative matter from Judge Charles A. Pannell, Jr. to Judge Amy Totenberg. Both are judges in the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia.

Written discovery began on October 8, 2010. The parties have exchanged responses to written discovery and some documents. No depositions other than
third-party depositions have been set. The Court has set an eight month discovery period.

Tenaxis

With respect to the patent nullity action filed by Tenaxis, Inc. (“Tenaxis”) against CryoLife’s main patent for BioGlue in Germany, Tenaxis filed its
response to the German equivalent of the Supreme Court (“German Court”) and CryoLife will likely respond to Tenaxis’ filing in the second quarter of 2011.
Both parties are requesting that an expert be appointed by the German Court to assist with the technical aspects of this matter. Because the German Court will
appoint an expert, it is likely that the appeal will not be heard until 2012.

Litigation Related to CryoLife’s Tender Offer for Cardiogenesis and the Planned Merger

On April 7, 2011 two plaintiffs filed separate purported class actions against Cardiogenesis Corporation (“Cardiogenesis”), its directors, and CryoLife
and CL Falcon, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of CryoLife (“Merger Sub”) created for the purposes of the Cardiogenesis transaction. The suits were filed in
connection with CryoLife and Cardiogenesis entering into a merger agreement and CryoLife’s tender offer for shares of Cardiogenesis. The plaintiffs’
allegations in the lawsuits are contained in two separate civil complaints set forth below (the “Complaints”). The Complaints allege that the board of
directors of Cardiogenesis breached their fiduciary duties to Cardiogenesis by seeking to sell Cardiogenesis through an allegedly unfair process, for an unfair
price, and on unfair terms. The Complaints also allege that Cardiogenesis, CryoLife, and Merger Sub aided and abetted the breach by the directors of
Cardiogenesis of those fiduciary duties. The suits seek various equitable reliefs that could delay or enjoin the merger of Merger Sub and Cardiogenesis, based
on allegations regarding the process by which offers or potential offers were evaluated by Cardiogenesis, and also seek monetary damages, as well as fees and
expenses of the plaintiffs’ attorneys and experts.
 

Court   Filing Date   Case Name   Case Number
Superior Court of California,
    County of Orange   

April 7, 2011
  

Patrick J. Grace
    vs. Paul McCormick   

30-2011-00464472-CU-SL-CXC

Superior Court of California,
    County of Orange   

April 7, 2011
  

Marion William Habiak
    vs. Cardiogenesis Corporation   

30-2011-00464844-CU-SL-CXC
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CryoLife and Merger Sub believe the allegations made against them in the Complaints are without merit and intend to defend vigorously the actions.
See also Item 1A, “Risk Factors” below.

Other

Except as described above, we are not a party to any material legal proceeding outside of the ordinary litigation incidental to our business.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Other than the risk factors included below, there have been no material changes to the Risk Factors as previously disclosed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk
Factors” in our 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010.

We May Be Unsuccessful Or Delayed In Our Attempt To Acquire Cardiogenesis, Which May Have A Material Adverse Effect On Our Operating
Expenses And Revenues.

In March 2011 we entered into a definitive merger agreement with Cardiogenesis and subsequently commenced a tender offer to acquire outstanding
shares of Cardiogenesis. The tender offer and merger are expected to close in mid to late May 2011. However, the tender offer and merger may not be
completed within our anticipated time frame, if at all, and a sufficient number of Cardiogenesis shareholders may not choose to tender their stock in the offer
and/or vote for the proposed merger. Two purported class action lawsuits have been filed by Cardiogenesis shareholders challenging the merger. Also,
competing offers may be made for Cardiogenesis, various closing conditions for the transaction may not be satisfied or waived, including that a
governmental entity may prohibit or delay the transaction, and the effects of disruption from the transaction may make it more difficult to maintain
relationships with employees, customers, business partners, or governmental entities. If our transaction with Cardiogenesis is delayed or unsuccessful, we may
experience increased operating costs related to our efforts to acquire Cardiogenesis, without the positive impact of the increased revenues that we expect from
sales of Cardiogenesis products.

If Our Acquisition Of Cardiogenesis Is Successfully Completed, We Will Inherit Risks And Uncertainties Related To Cardiogenesis’ Business.

In March 2011 we entered into a definitive merger agreement with Cardiogenesis and subsequently commenced a tender offer to acquire outstanding
shares of Cardiogenesis. The tender offer and merger are expected to close in mid to late May 2011. If the acquisition of Cardiogenesis is successfully
completed, we will also inherit certain risks and uncertainties related to Cardiogenesis’ business. These risks and uncertainties include that:
 

 •  Our ability to maintain revenues and achieve growth in sales of Cardiogenesis products and services in the future is dependent upon physician
awareness of its products and services as a safe, efficacious, and appropriate treatment for their patients;

 

 •  We may not be able to successfully market Cardiogenesis’ products and services if third-party reimbursement for the procedures performed with
Cardiogenesis’ products is not available for its healthcare provider customers;

 

 •  Healthcare policy changes, including recent federal legislation to reform the U.S. healthcare system, may have a material adverse effect on
Cardiogenesis’ products and services;

 

 
•  If we fail to maintain Cardiogenesis’ regulatory approvals and clearances, or are unable to obtain, or experience significant delays in obtaining

FDA clearances or approvals for its future products or product modifications, our ability to commercially distribute and market these products
could suffer;

 

 •  If suppliers or manufacturers with respect to Cardiogenesis products fail to comply with ongoing FDA or other foreign regulatory authority
requirements, our Cardiogenesis business may be negatively impacted;

 

 •  In the future, the FDA could restrict the current uses of Cardiogenesis’ TMR System and thereby restrict its ability to generate revenues;
 

 •  The use, misuse, or off-label use of Cardiogenesis products may harm its image in the marketplace or result in injuries that lead to product liability
suits, which could be costly to us or result in FDA sanctions if we are deemed to have engaged in such promotion;

 

 •  We may fail to comply with international regulatory requirements with respect to Cardiogenesis’ business and could be subject to regulatory
delays, fines, or other penalties;

 

 •  Our international operations with respect to Cardiogenesis subject it to certain operating risks, which could adversely impact its net sales, results
of operations, and financial condition;
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 •  We will continue to purchase some of Cardiogenesis’ key product components from single suppliers and the loss of these suppliers could prevent
or delay shipments of its products, delay its clinical trials, or otherwise adversely affect our Cardiogenesis business;

 

 •  If Cardiogenesis’ independent contract manufacturers fail to timely deliver sufficient quantities of some of Cardiogenesis’ products and
components in a timely manner, our Cardiogenesis operations may be harmed;

 

 •  If clinical trials of Cardiogenesis’ current or future product candidates do not produce results necessary to support regulatory clearance or approval
in the U.S. or elsewhere, we will be unable to commercialize these products;

 

 •  If the third parties on which Cardiogenesis relies to conduct its clinical trials and to assist it with pre-clinical development do not perform as
contractually required or expected, we may not be able to obtain regulatory clearance or approval for or commercialize its Cardiogenesis products;

 

 •  Cardiogenesis’ current third-party distributors or our own distributors may not effectively distribute Cardiogenesis products;
 

 •  Third-party intellectual property rights may limit the development and protection of intellectual property acquired from Cardiogenesis, which
could adversely affect its value to us;

 

 •  Cardiogenesis has been named as a defendant in a patent infringement lawsuit and costly litigation may be necessary to protect or defend its
intellectual property rights;

 

 •  Cardiogenesis and its board of directors have been named as defendants in two separate purported class action lawsuits, which could adversely
affect us;

 

 •  The Cardiogenesis business relies on patent and trade secret laws, which are complex and may be difficult to enforce;
 

 •  We may suffer losses from product liability claims if Cardiogenesis’ products cause or have in the past caused harm to patients;
 

 •  Cardiogenesis may have additional pre-existing legal claims which could aversely affect us;
 

 •  Immediately following the acquisition, Cardiogenesis’ operations will be conducted at a single location that may be at risk from earthquakes or
other natural disasters;

 

 •  In the past, Cardiogenesis has depended heavily on key personnel and the turnover of key employees and senior management following
completion of the merger could harm our Cardiogenesis business; and

 

 •  Cardiogenesis’ internal controls over financial reporting may not have been effective, which could have a significant and adverse effect on us
following completion of the merger.

If Our Acquisition Of Cardiogenesis Is Successfully Completed, The Subsequent Integration Of Cardiogenesis’ Business Into Our Business May Be
Slower Than Expected Or Unsuccessful, And Our Revenues And Operating Expenses May Be Materially Adversely Impacted As A Result.

Our ability to fully realize the anticipated benefits of the transaction with Cardiogenesis may be materially adversely impacted if the integration of
Cardiogenesis’ business with ours is slower than expected or unsuccessful, or if the transaction and subsequent efforts to integrate Cardiogenesis’ business
with us distract our management team from the other facets of our business.

Our Tissues And Products Allegedly Have Caused And May In The Future Cause Injury To Patients, And We Have Been And May Be Exposed To
Tissue Processing And Product Liability Claims, Including One Currently Outstanding Product Liability Lawsuit, And Additional Regulatory Scrutiny
As A Result.

The processing, preservation, and distribution of human tissues, and the manufacture and sale of medical devices entail inherent risks, including the
possibility of medical complications for patients, and have resulted and may result in tissue processing and product liability claims against us and adverse
publicity. From time to time various plaintiffs have asserted that our tissues or medical devices have caused a variety of injuries, including death. We have
been and may be sued and our insurance coverage has been and may be inadequate. Adverse judgments and settlements in excess of our available insurance
coverage could materially adversely impact our financial position, profitability, and cash flows.

We currently have one outstanding product liability lawsuit related to BioGlue.

Because medical complications are alleged to have been caused by or occur in connection with medical procedures involving our tissues or products, we
have been and may be subject to additional FDA and other regulatory scrutiny, inspections, and adverse publicity. For example, shortly after the FDA Order,
the FDA posted a notice, now archived, on its website stating its concerns regarding our heart valve tissues. As a result, some surgeons and hospitals decided
not to use our heart valves. Cautionary statements from the FDA or other regulators, adverse publicity, changes to our labeling, required prominent warnings,
or negative reviews from the FDA or other regulators of our processing and manufacturing facilities have decreased and may in the future
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decrease demand for our tissues or products and could have a material adverse impact on our revenues, financial condition, profitability, and cash flows.

In addition to the recall resulting from the FDA Order, we have in the past suspended or recalled, and in the future may have to suspend the distribution
of or recall particular types of tissues as a result of reported adverse events in connection with our tissues. Suspension of the distribution of, or recall of, our
tissues or products could have a material adverse impact on our revenues, financial condition, profitability, and cash flows.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
 

 (c) The following table provides information about purchases by the Company during the quarter ended March 31, 2011 of equity securities that are
registered by the Company pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act:

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Common Stock
 

Period   

Total Number of
Common Shares

Purchased    

Average Price
Paid per

Common Share   

Total Number
of Common Shares

Purchased as
Part of Publicly

Announced
Plans or Programs   

Dollar Value
of Common Shares
That May Yet Be

Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs  

01/01/11 – 01/31/11    136,897    $ 5.48     136,897    $ 8,489,909  
02/01/11 – 02/28/11    154,411     5.26     142,752     7,739,911  
03/01/11 – 03/31/11    –     –     –     7,739,911  

Total    291,308     5.36     279,649     7,739,911  

On June 1, 2010 the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up to $15.0 million of its common stock over the course
of the following two years. The purchase of shares may be made from time to time in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions on such
terms as management deems appropriate and will be dependent upon various factors, including price, regulatory requirements, and other market conditions.
As of March 31, 2011 the Company had purchased approximately 1.3 million shares of its common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $7.3 million. The
remaining common shares shown were tendered to the Company in payment of taxes on stock compensation.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. (Removed and Reserved).

Item 5. Other information.

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.

The exhibit index can be found below.
 
Exhibit
Number  Description
2.1

  
Agreement and Plan of Merger Among CryoLife, Inc., CL Falcon, Inc., and Cardiogenesis Corporation dated March 28, 2011.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 29, 2011.)

3.1
  

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.)

3.2
  

Amended and Restated By-Laws. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed January 6, 2010.)

4.1
  

Form of Certificate for the Company’s Common Stock. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997.)

4.2

  

First Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2005, between CryoLife, Inc. and American Stock Transfer
& Trust Company. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 3,
2005.)

10.1*   Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreement pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan.
10.2*   Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2009 Employee Stock Incentive Plan.
10.3*

  

Fifth Amendment, dated March 2, 2011, to the Credit Agreement by and among CryoLife, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries, as
borrowers, General Electric Capital Corporation, as lender, letter of credit issuer, and agent for all lenders, and GE Capital Markets,
Inc., as sole lead arranger and bookrunner.

31.1*   Certification by Steven G. Anderson pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2*   Certification by D. Ashley Lee pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32*   Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 
* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 
     CRYOLIFE, INC.    

   (Registrant)   

/s/ STEVEN G. ANDERSON    /s/ D. ASHLEY LEE   
       
STEVEN G. ANDERSON    D. ASHLEY LEE   
Chairman, President, and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

   

Executive Vice President,
Chief Operating Officer, and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)   

April 28, 2011      
      
DATE      
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Exhibit 10.1

CryoLife, Inc.
1655 Roberts Boulevard, N.W.

Kennesaw, GA 30144
(770) 419-3355 – (800) 438-8285

Date:__________

Name:                                  
Address:                             
                                              
 
Re: Grant of Non-Qualified Stock Option Pursuant to CryoLife, Inc.
  2002 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”)
Dear ____________:

This letter sets forth the agreement between you and CryoLife, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Corporation”), regarding your option to acquire shares
of the Corporation’s Common Stock.

1. Grant of Option. Subject to the terms set forth below, the Corporation hereby grants to Employee the right, privilege, and option to purchase up to
             shares (the “Option Shares”) of its Common Stock at the purchase price of $             per share, which price is equal to the closing price of the
Corporation’s Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on                     . The date of grant (“Grant Date”) of the option is                     . This option is
not intended to be and shall not be treated as an “Incentive Stock Option,” as that term is defined in Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended.

2. Time of Exercise of Option. Prior to its termination as set forth in Section 5 below, this option shall vest, and the Employee may exercise the option
granted herein on a cumulative basis as described below:



Exercise Date   
Cumulative Percentage of
Option Shares Exercisable  

  
  
  

3. Method of Exercise. The option shall be exercised by written notice directed to the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”), at the
Corporation’s principal executive office, accompanied by payment of the option price for the number of Option Shares purchased in accordance with the
Plan’s requirements. The Corporation shall make delivery of such shares in accordance with the Plan provided that if any law or regulation requires the
Corporation to take any action with respect to the shares specified in such notice before the issuance thereof, then the date of delivery of such shares shall be
extended for the period necessary to take such action.

4. The Plan. The Corporation’s 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time by the Board of Directors of the Corporation, is hereby
incorporated in this letter and to the extent that anything in this letter is inconsistent with the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control. Employee
acknowledges that the Corporation has provided a copy of the Plan to Employee. The Optionee has received a copy of the Prospectus covering the Option
Shares.

5. Termination of Option. Except as herein otherwise stated, the option, to the extent not previously exercised, shall terminate in accordance with the
Plan and upon the first to occur of the following events:

(a) Disability. The expiration of 36 months after the date on which Employee’s employment by the Corporation is terminated, if such termination
be by reason of Employee’s permanent and total Disability (as defined by the Corporation’s Compensation Committee), provided, however, that (i) the
option shall be exercisable only to the extent that Employee had the right to exercise the option at the time of



termination, and (ii) if the Employee dies within such 36 month period, any unexercised option held by such Employee shall thereafter be exercisable in
accordance with the provisions of and shall terminate upon the first to occur of the events described in Sections 5(b) and (d);

(b) Death. In the event of Employee’s death while in the employ of the Corporation, the expiration of 12 months following the date of death,
provided that the option shall be exercisable following the Employee’s death only to the extent that Employee had the right to exercise the option at the time
of his or her death.

(c) Retirement. In the event Employee’s employment with the Corporation terminates by reason of normal or early Retirement (as defined by the
Corporation’s Compensation Committee), any option held by such Employee may be exercised by the Employee for a period of 36 months from the date of
such termination, provided, however, that (i) the option shall be exercisable only to the extent that Employee had the right to exercise the option at the time
of termination, and (ii) if the Employee dies within such 36 month period any unexercised option held by Employee shall thereafter be exercisable in
accordance with the provisions of and shall terminate upon the first to occur of the events described in Section 5(b) and (d); or

(d) Other. Upon the earlier to occur of (i) 84 months following the Grant Date, or (ii) upon termination of Employee’s employment by the
Corporation (except if such termination be by reason of death, disability, or normal or early Retirement).

Except as set forth above, the option may not be exercised unless Employee, at the time he/she exercises the option, is, and has been at all times since
the date of grant of the option, an employee of the Corporation. Employee shall be deemed to be employed by the Corporation if he/she is employed by the
Corporation or any of its subsidiaries. Notwithstanding the above, in no event may the option be exercised after 84 months following the Grant Date.

6. Reclassification, Consolidation, or Merger. The number of Option Shares may be adjusted in accordance with the Plan if certain events such as
merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, stock dividends, stock splits, or other changes in the Corporation’s corporate structure affecting its
Common Stock occur.



7. Rights Prior to Exercise of Option. This Option is not transferable by Employee, except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution or as
otherwise set forth in the Plan, and during Employee’s lifetime shall be exercisable only by Employee. This option shall confer no rights to the holder hereof
to act as stockholder with respect to any of the Option Shares until payment of the option price and delivery of a share certificate has been made.

8. Employee’s Representations and Warranties. By execution of this agreement, Employee represents and warrants to the Corporation as follows:

(a). The entire legal and beneficial interest of the option and the Option Shares are for and will be held for the account of the Employee only and
neither in whole nor in part for any other person.

(b). Employee resides at the following address:
                __________________
                __________________
                __________________

(c). Employee is familiar with the Corporation and its plans, operations, and financial condition. Prior to the acceptance of this option, Employee
has received all information as he or she deems necessary and appropriate to enable an evaluation of the financial risk inherent in accepting the option and
has received satisfactory and complete information concerning the business and financial condition of the Corporation in response to all inquiries in respect
thereof.

9. Restricted Securities. Employee recognizes and understands that this option and the Option Shares are currently registered under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), but may not remain so registered and are not registered under the Georgia Uniform Securities Act of 2008, as amended (the
“Georgia Act”), or any other state securities law. Any transfer of the option (if otherwise permitted hereunder, and once exercised, the Option Shares) will not
be recognized by the Corporation unless such transfer is registered under the Act, the Georgia Act, and any other applicable state securities laws or effected
pursuant to an exemption from such registration which may then be available. If the Option Shares are not registered, any share certificates representing the
Option Shares may be stamped with legends restricting transfer thereof in accordance with the Corporation’s policy with respect to unregistered shares of its
Common Stock issued to employees as a result of exercise of options granted under the



Plan. The Corporation may make a notation in its stock transfer records of the aforementioned restrictions on transfers and legends. Employee recognizes and
understands that the Option Shares may be restricted securities within the meaning of Rule 144 promulgated under the Act; that the exemption from
registration under Rule 144 may not be available under certain circumstances and the Employee’s opportunity to utilize such Rule 144 to sell the Option
Shares may be limited or denied. The Corporation shall be under no obligation to maintain or promote a public trading market for the class of shares for
which the option is granted or to make provision for adequate information concerning the Corporation to be available to the public as contemplated under
Rule 144. The Corporation will be under no obligation to recognize any transfer or sale of any Option Shares that are not registered under the Act unless the
terms and conditions of Rule 144 are complied with by the Employee. By acceptance hereof, Employee agrees that no permitted disposition of this option or
any Option Shares shall be made unless and until (i) there is then in effect a registration statement under the Act, the Georgia Act, and applicable state
securities laws covering such proposed disposition and such disposition is made in accordance with such registration statement, or (ii) Employee shall have
notified the Corporation of a proposed option disposition and shall have furnished to the Corporation a detailed statement of the circumstances surrounding
such disposition, and if requested by the Corporation, an opinion of counsel acceptable in form and substance to the Corporation that such disposition will
not require registration of the shares so disposed under the Act, the Georgia Act, and any applicable state securities laws. The Corporation shall be under no
obligation to permit such transfer or disposition on its stock transfer books unless counsel for the Corporation shall concur as to such matters. Employee
recognizes and understands that as long as Employee remains a designated Section 16 officer of the Corporation, and for up to six months thereafter, any
sales of Option Shares will be subject to Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and the regulations
promulgated thereunder. Employee also recognizes and understands that any sale of the Option Shares will also be subject to Rule 10b-5 promulgated under
the Exchange Act. Employee agrees that any disposition of the Option Shares shall be made only in compliance with the Act, the Exchange Act, and the rules
and regulations promulgated thereunder.

10. Tax Matters. The Employee hereby agrees to comply with any applicable federal, state, and local income and employment tax requirements which
might arise with regard to a disposition of any Option Shares. No later than the date as of which an amount first becomes includable in the gross income of the
Employee for federal income tax purposes with respect to the exercise of any option



under the Plan, Employee shall pay to the Corporation, or make arrangements satisfactory to the Committee regarding the payment of, any federal, state, or
local taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to such amount. The obligations of the Corporation under the Plan are conditional on
such payment or arrangements and the Corporation shall have the right to deduct any such taxes from any payment of any kind otherwise due to Employee.

11. Payment. The Option Exercise Price shall be paid in cash in U.S. Dollars at the time the Option is exercised or in shares of Common Stock of the
Corporation held by the employee for at least six months and having an aggregate value equal to the Option Exercise Price. If the Option Exercise Price is
paid by transfer of shares of Common Stock of the Corporation then the value of such shares will be determined by the last closing price of the Corporation’s
Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange prior to the exercise of the options. The Option Exercise Price may be paid by a combination of cash and
Common Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subject to the prior approval of the Compensation Committee, Employee may elect to pay the Option
Exercise Price by authorizing a third party to sell shares of stock (or a sufficient portion of the shares) acquired upon exercise of the Option and remit to the
Corporation a sufficient portion of the sale proceeds to pay the entire Option Exercise Price and any tax withholding resulting from such exercise.

12. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors,
administrators, successors, and permissible assigns.

13. Miscellaneous. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of Georgia. If any term or provision hereof shall be
held invalid or unenforceable, the remaining terms and provisions hereof shall continue in full force and effect. Any modification to this Agreement shall not
be effective unless the same shall be in writing and such writing shall be signed by authorized representatives of both of the parties hereto. The terms of
paragraphs 8 and 9 hereof shall survive exercise of the option by Employee and shall attach to the Option Shares. The option contained in this letter shall not
confer upon Employee any right to continued employment with the Corporation, nor shall it interfere in any way with the right of the Corporation to
terminate the employment of Employee at any time. This letter can be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and
all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.



Please signify your acceptance of the option and your agreement to be bound by the terms hereof by promptly signing one of the two original letters
provided to you and returning the same to the Secretary of the Corporation.

Thank you for your good work and service.
 
       THE CORPORATION:

(SEAL)     

    CRYOLIFE, INC.

     
    BY:
    TITLE:

ATTEST:     

     
BY:     
TITLE:     

OPTIONEE:     

     
Name:     



Exhibit 10.2

Your Name:                             

CRYOLIFE RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT

CRYOLIFE, INC. (“CryoLife”) is pleased to grant you the restricted stock award described below (“Stock Award”). This grant is made subject to the further
terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and the terms of the CryoLife, Inc. 2009 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).
 
Grant Date:        
Market Price on Grant Date:     $         per share  
Total Number of Shares of Stock Award:        
Vesting:        

Additional Terms and Conditions describes withholding of taxes on your award, transferability of your award, what happens if you cease to be employed by
CryoLife before your Stock Award vests, where to send notices and other matters.

The Plan contains the detailed terms that govern your Stock Award. If anything in this Agreement or the other attachments is inconsistent with the Plan, the
terms of the Plan, as amended from time to time, will control.

The Plan Prospectus Document covering the Stock Award contains important information, including federal income tax consequences.

_____ Annual Report of CryoLife (not attached if you previously received the              Annual Report).

Please sign below to show that you accept this Stock Award after review of the above documents. Keep a copy and return both originals to Suzanne K.
Gabbert, CryoLife, Inc., 1655 Roberts Blvd., NW, Kennesaw, GA 30144.
 
CRYOLIFE, INC.   GRANTEE:

By:      
Name:    Name:   
Its:    Social Security Number:    
Date:     Your Residential Address:   

    
    
    

   Date:   



ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF YOUR RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD

EFFECT OF TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. You must be employed by CryoLife or one of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates on the applicable vesting
date to be entitled to the vesting of your Stock Award on such date. If you cease to be employed by any of CryoLife, its Subsidiaries or Affiliates for any
reason, (including, without limitation, by reason of death, disability or retirement), then the portion of your Stock Award which has not vested as of the date
of termination of employment shall automatically be forfeited and cancelled as of the date of such termination of employment.

STOCK AWARD SHARE CERTIFICATES. Certificates representing the shares of Common Stock to be issued pursuant to the Stock Award shall be issued
in your name and shall be held by CryoLife until the Stock Award is vested or forfeited as provided herein. Upon vesting of your Stock Award, CryoLife shall
promptly deliver to you a certificate or certificates representing the shares as to which the Stock Award has vested free of the restrictions described in the
following section.

RIGHTS WITH RESPECT TO STOCK AWARD PRIOR TO VESTING. You may not transfer your Stock Award or the shares to be issued hereunder prior
to vesting. Once this Stock Award vests, you will receive transferable certificates representing the vested portion. Prior to vesting, you are entitled to all other
rights as a shareholder with respect to the shares underlying the Stock Award, including the right to vote such shares and to receive dividends and other
distributions, if any, payable with respect to such shares after the Grant Date.

WITHHOLDING. Whenever CryoLife proposes, or is required, to distribute shares to you or pay you dividends with respect to the unvested portion of your
Stock Award, CryoLife may either: (a) require you to pay to Cryolife an amount sufficient to satisfy any local, state, Federal and foreign income tax,
employment tax and insurance withholding requirements prior to the delivery of any payment or Stock certificate owing to you pursuant to the Stock Award;
or, in its discretion, (b) reduce the number of shares to be delivered to you by that number of shares of the Stock Award sufficient to satisfy all or a portion of
such tax withholding requirements, based on the fair market value of the Stock Award as determined under the Plan.

NOTICES. All notices delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be (i) delivered by hand, (ii) mailed by United States certified mail,
return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (iii) sent by an internationally recognized courier which maintains evidence of delivery and receipt. All notices
or other communications shall be directed to the following addresses (or to such other addresses as such parties may designate by notice to the other parties):
 

To CryoLife:   CryoLife, Inc.    
  1655 Roberts Blvd., NW   
  Kennesaw, GA 30144   
  Attention: Secretary   

To you:   The address set forth in the Agreement    

MISCELLANEOUS. Failure by you or CryoLife at any time or times to require performance by the other of any provisions in your Restricted Stock Award
Agreement (“Agreement”) will not affect the right to enforce those provisions. Any waiver by you or CryoLife of any condition or of any breach of any term
or provision in this Agreement, whether by conduct or otherwise, in any one or more instances, shall apply only to that instance and will not be deemed to
waive conditions or breaches in the future. If any court of
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competent jurisdiction holds that any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, the remaining terms and provisions will continue in
full force and effect, and this Agreement shall be deemed to be amended automatically to exclude the offending provision. This Agreement may be executed
in multiple copies and each executed copy shall be an original of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be subject to and governed by the laws of the State of
Georgia. No change or modification of this Agreement shall be valid unless it is in writing and signed by the party against which enforcement is sought,
except where specifically provided to the contrary herein. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the permitted successors,
assigns, heirs, executors and legal representatives of the parties hereto. The headings of each section of this Agreement are for convenience only. This
Agreement, together with the Plan, contains the entire Agreement of the parties hereto, and no representation, inducement, promise, or agreement or other
similar understanding between the parties not embodied herein shall be of any force or effect, and no party will be liable or bound in any manner for any
warranty, representation, or covenant except as specifically set forth herein or in the Plan.
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Exhibit 10.3

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT AND JOINDER

THIS FIFTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT AND JOINDER (“Amendment”) is entered into as of March 2, 2011, by and among CryoLife,
Inc., a Florida corporation (“CryoLife”), CryoLife Acquisition Corporation, a Florida corporation (“Acquisition Corp”), AuraZyme Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
Florida corporation (“AuraZyme”), CryoLife International, Inc., a Florida corporation (“International”) (CryoLife, Acquisition Corp, International and
AuraZyme are sometimes referred to herein together as the “Borrowers” and individually as a “Borrower”), CryoLife, as Borrower Representative, CL Falcon,
Inc., a Florida corporation (the “New Borrower”, and together with the Borrowers and the other Persons party hereto that are designated as credit parties, each
a “Credit Party” and collectively, the “Credit Parties”), General Electric Capital Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Agent”), as administrative agent
for the several financial institutions from time to time party to this Amendment (collectively, the “Lenders” and individually each a “Lender”) and for itself
as a Lender and L/C Issuer, and such Lenders.

RECITALS

A. The Borrowers, the other Credit Parties signatory thereto, the Lenders signatory thereto from time to time and Agent are parties to that certain Credit
Agreement, dated as of March 27, 2008 (as amended, supplemented, revised, restated, replaced or otherwise modified, the “Credit Agreement”).

B. The Borrowers, the other Grantors from time to time party thereto, and Agent, as Agent for the Secured Parties referred to therein, are parties to that
certain Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2008 (as amended, supplemented, revised, restated, replaced or otherwise modified, the
“Guaranty and Security Agreement”). Capitalized terms used in this Amendment without definition shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the
Credit Agreement and the Guaranty and Security Agreement, as applicable.

C. The Borrowers have requested that Lenders amend the Credit Agreement in certain respects and Lenders have agreed to so amend the Credit
Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions hereof.

D. The New Borrower desires to become a party to the Credit Agreement as a Borrower thereunder and to the Guaranty and Security Agreement as a
Grantor thereunder.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, and intending to be legally bound, the parties
hereto agree as follows:

A. AMENDMENTS

1. Amendment to Section 6.2. Section 6.2 of the Credit Agreement is amended by replacing such Section 6.2 in its entirety with the following:



6.2 Leverage Ratio. The Credit Parties shall not permit the Leverage Ratio for the twelve month period ending as of the last day of any fiscal
quarter of the Borrower Representative to be greater than 2.0:1.0. “Leverage Ratio” shall be calculated in the manner set forth in Exhibit 4.2(b).

2. Amendment to Section 11.1 Section 11.1 of the Credit Agreement is amended by replacing the definition of “Revolving Termination Date” in its
entirety with the following:

“Revolving Termination Date” means the earlier to occur of: (a) June 30, 2011; and (b) the date on which the Aggregate Revolving Loan
Commitment shall terminate in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

B. JOINDER

By executing and delivering this Amendment, the New Borrower, as provided in Section 4.13(b) of the Credit Agreement, hereby becomes a
“Borrower” under the Credit Agreement and each other Loan Document as required of a Credit Party with the same force and effect as if originally named as a
Borrower therein and agrees to be bound by all the terms and conditions therein.

By executing and delivering this Amendment, the New Borrower, as provided in Section 8.6 of the Guaranty and Security Agreement, hereby becomes
a party to the Guaranty and Security Agreement as a Grantor thereunder with the same force and effect as if originally named as a Grantor therein and, without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, as collateral security for the prompt and complete payment and performance when due (whether at stated maturity, by
acceleration or otherwise) of the Secured Obligations of the New Borrower, hereby mortgages, pledges and hypothecates to the Agent for the benefit of the
Secured Parties, and grants to the Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties a lien on and security interest in, all of its right, title and interest in, to and under
the Collateral of the New Borrower and expressly assumes all obligations and liabilities of a Grantor thereunder. The New Borrower hereby agrees to be
bound as a Grantor for the purposes of the Guaranty and Security Agreement.

The information set forth in Annex 1-A is hereby added to the information set forth in Schedules 1 through 6 to the Guaranty and Security Agreement.
By acknowledging and agreeing to this Amendment, the New Borrower hereby agrees that this Amendment may be attached to the Guaranty and Security
Agreement and that the Pledged Collateral listed on Annex 1-A to this Amendment shall be and become part of the Collateral referred to in the Guaranty and
Security Agreement and shall secure all Secured Obligations of the New Borrower.

In furtherance of the foregoing, New Borrower agrees to execute and/or deliver to Agent such UCC financing statements (with proper authorization to
file such UCC financing statements without New Borrower’s signature), pledge agreements, security agreements, secretary’s certificates as to organization and
incumbency and other, like documents, supplements, instruments, schedules, certificates or agreements as Agent may reasonably request to give effect to this
Amendment.
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C. CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVENESS

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Amendment and without affecting in any manner the rights of the Lenders hereunder, it is understood and
agreed that this Amendment shall not become effective, and the Borrower shall have no rights under this Amendment, until Agent shall have received
(a) duly executed signature pages to this Amendment from the Lenders, Borrowers, L/C Issuer, Agent and each Credit Party, (b) an amendment fee in the
amount of $10,000, and (c) a certificate of the secretary or other officer of each Credit Party in charge of maintaining books and records of such Credit Party
certifying as to (i) the names and signatures of each officer of such Credit Party authorized to execute and deliver any Loan Document, (ii) the Organization
Documents of such Credit Party attached to such certificate are complete and correct copies of such Organization Documents as in effect on the date of such
certification and (iii) the resolutions of such Credit Party’s board of directors or other appropriate governing body approving and authorizing the execution,
delivery and performance of this Amendment to which such Credit Party is a party.

D. REPRESENTATIONS

Each Credit Party hereby represents and warrants to Lenders, L/C Issuer and Agent that:

1. The execution, delivery and performance by such Credit Party of this Amendment (a) are within such Credit Party’s power; (b) have been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate, limited liability company or limited partnership action; (c) are not in contravention of any provision of such Credit
Party’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws or other organizational documents; (d) do not violate any law or regulation, or any order or decree of any
Governmental Authority; (e) do not conflict with or result in the breach or termination of, constitute a default under or accelerate any performance required
by, any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lease, agreement or other instrument to which such Credit Party or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which
such Credit Party or any such Subsidiary or any of their respective property is bound; (f) do not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any of
the property of such Credit Party or any of its Subsidiaries other than those in favor of Agent, on behalf of itself and the Lenders, pursuant to the Loan
Documents; and (g) do not require the consent or approval of any Governmental Authority or any other Person;

2. This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered for the benefit of or on behalf of each Credit Party and constitutes a legal, valid and binding
obligation of each Credit Party, enforceable against such Credit Party in accordance with its terms except as the enforceability hereof may be limited by
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws affecting creditors’ rights and remedies in general; and

3. Both before and after giving effect to this Amendment, the representations and warranties contained in the Credit Agreement and the other Credit
Documents are true and correct in all material respects and no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing as of the date hereof. New Borrower
hereby restates each and every representation and warranty made in the Credit Agreement and under any of the other Loan Documents, as fully and
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completely as if New Borrower were an original party thereto, except for those representations and warranties which addressed a prior point in time.

4. Both before and after giving effect to this Amendment, the New Borrower hereby represents and warrants that each of the representations and
warranties contained in Article IV of the Guaranty and Security Agreement applicable to it is true and correct on and as of the date hereof as if New Borrower
were an original party thereto.

E. OTHER AGREEMENTS

1. Continuing Effectiveness of Loan Documents. As amended hereby, all terms of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be
and remain in full force and effect and shall constitute the legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations of the Credit Parties party thereto. To the extent
any terms and conditions in any of the other Loan Documents shall contradict or be in conflict with any terms or conditions of the Credit Agreement, after
giving effect to this Amendment, such terms and conditions are hereby deemed modified and amended accordingly to reflect the terms and conditions of the
Credit Agreement as modified and amended hereby. Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment such terms and conditions are hereby deemed modified and
amended accordingly to reflect the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement as modified and amended hereby.

2. Reaffirmation of Guaranty. Each Credit Party consents to the execution and delivery of this Amendment by all parties hereto and the
consummation of the transactions described herein, and ratifies and confirms the terms of the Guaranty and Security Agreement to which such Guarantor is a
party with respect to the indebtedness now or hereafter outstanding under the Credit Agreement as amended hereby and all promissory notes issued
thereunder. Each Credit Party acknowledges that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in any other document evidencing any
indebtedness of any Borrower to the Lenders or any other obligation of Borrowers, or any actions now or hereafter taken by the Lenders with respect to any
obligation of Borrowers, the Guaranty to which such Credit Party is a party (i) is and shall continue to be a primary obligation of such Credit Party, (ii) is and
shall continue to be an absolute, unconditional, continuing and irrevocable guaranty of payment, and (iii) is and shall continue to be in full force and effect
in accordance with its terms. Nothing contained herein to the contrary shall release, discharge, modify, change or affect the original liability of any Credit
Party under the Guaranty to which such Credit Party is a party.

3. Acknowledgment of Perfection of Security Interest. Each Credit Party hereby acknowledges that, as of the date hereof, the security interests
and liens granted to Agent, the L/C Issuer and the Lenders under the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are in full force and effect, are properly
perfected and are enforceable in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

4. Effect of Agreement. Except as set forth expressly herein, all terms of the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, and the other Loan
Documents shall be and remain in full force and effect and shall constitute the legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligations of the Borrowers to the
Lenders, the L/C Issuer and Agent. The execution, delivery and effectiveness
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of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Lenders under the Credit
Agreement, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement. This Amendment shall constitute a Loan Document for all purposes of the
Credit Agreement.

5. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York and all
applicable federal laws of the United States of America.

6. No Novation. This Amendment is not intended by the parties to be, and shall not be construed to be, a novation of the Credit Agreement and
the other Loan Documents or an accord and satisfaction in regard thereto.

7. Costs and Expenses. The Borrowers agree to pay on demand all costs and expenses of Agent in connection with the preparation, execution and
delivery of this Amendment, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and out-of-pocket expenses of outside counsel for Agent with respect thereto.

8. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties hereto in any number of separate counterparts, each of which
shall be deemed an original and all of which, taken together, shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart
of this Amendment by facsimile transmission, Electronic Transmission or containing an E-Signature shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed
counterpart hereof.

9. Binding Nature. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, their respective successors, successors-
in-titles, and assigns.

10. Entire Understanding. This Amendment sets forth the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the matters set forth herein, and shall
supersede any prior negotiations or agreements, whether written or oral, with respect thereto.

[signature pages to follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been duly executed as of the date first written above.
 

BORROWERS:

CRYOLIFE, INC.

By:  /s/ D. A. Lee
Title:  EVP, COO and CFO

CRYOLIFE ACQUISITION CORPORATION

By:  /s/ D. A. Lee
Title:  VP, Finance and Treasurer

AURAZYME PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:  /s/ D. A. Lee
Title:  VP, Finance, CFO and Treasurer

CRYOLIFE INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By:  /s/ D. A. Lee
Title:  VP, CFO and Treasurer

CL FALCON, INC.

By:  /s/ D. A. Lee
Title:  VP, Finance, CFO and Treasurer

AGENT, L/C ISSUER AND LENDERS:

GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL
CORPORATION, as Agent, L/C Issuer and sole Lender

By:  /s/ Ryan Guenin
 Its Duly Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement]



Annex 1-A

PLEDGED STOCK
 

ISSUER   CLASS   
CERTIFICATE

NO(S).   PAR VALUE  

NUMBER OF
SHARES, UNITS
OR INTERESTS

CL Falcon, Inc.   Common  1   None   1,000

PLEDGED DEBT INSTRUMENTS
 

ISSUER   
DESCRIPTION OF

DEBT   
CERTIFICATE

NO(S).   
FINAL

MATURITY  
PRINCIPAL
AMOUNT



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Steven G. Anderson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of CryoLife, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: April 28, 2011
 

/s/ STEVEN G. ANDERSON
Chairman, President, and
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

I, David Ashley Lee, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of CryoLife, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: April 28, 2011
 

/s/ D. ASHLEY LEE
Executive Vice President,
Chief Operating Officer, and
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of CryoLife Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2011, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of Steven G. Anderson, the Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, and David Ashley Lee, the Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer, and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies,
pursuant to and for purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

 
/s/ STEVEN G. ANDERSON   /s/ D. ASHLEY LEE
STEVEN G. ANDERSON
Chairman, President, and
Chief Executive Officer
April 28, 2011

  

D. ASHLEY LEE
Executive Vice President,
Chief Operating Officer, and
Chief Financial Officer
April 28, 2011


	10-Q (CRYOLIFE INC) (April 28, 2011)
	10-Q - FORM 10-Q
	Part I FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	Item 1. Financial Statements.
	Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
	Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
	Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

	Part II OTHER INFORMATION
	Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
	Item 1A. Risk Factors.
	Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
	Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
	Item 4. (Removed and Reserved).
	Item 5. Other information.
	Item 6. Exhibits.

	SIGNATURES

	EX-10.1 (FORM OF NON-QUALIFED STOCK OPTION)
	EX-10.2 (FORM OF RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD PROGRAM)
	EX-10.3 (FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE CREDIT AGREEMENT)
	EX-31.1 (CERTIFICATION BY STEVEN G. ANDERSON)
	EX-31.2 (CERTIFICATION BY D. ASHLEY LEE)
	EX-32 (CERTIFICATION)


